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Our impact in 2016-17
Foreword
Research is essential if we are to better
understand kidney disease and develop
new and improved treatments. Kidney
Research UK both funds the research
we need to unlock answers to kidney
disease and develops the careers of
those working in the field. This in turn
builds the research capacity we need to
accelerate knowledge for the future.
In this report you can see some examples of that
capacity building, and examples of the innovative
research that the very brightest and committed
researchers are undertaking.
We have illustrated just some of the impact we have
made through that work. Not only are we delivering vital
steps along research journeys in laboratory science but
are also funding work that is helping improve the quality
of life for patients today. You will see that we have
increased our investment in research every year over the
last five years, and were able to invest £6.7 million last
year, a record amount. But as you will read from Sandra
Currie, this is not nearly enough to fund all the research
we need to.
We face a challenging environment, including
uncertainties for the international research community,
and an ever-increasing pressure on our research
colleagues’ time, on whom we depend for our
collaborative approach. I should like to thank them and
all those who support us through volunteering their
time, making gifts or undertaking their own fundraising.
We will not deliver a brighter future for kidney patients
without that generous support.

PROFESSOR JOHN FEEHALLY

|

CHAIR

There is much to celebrate in this annual
report. We have funded more research than
ever and taken forward some ambitious
collaborative projects with external partners.
We have amplified our messages about kidney disease and
our work. We continue to strive to ensure that patients are
with us as we develop our approach and to improve the
experience of those who generously support us. We have
made some changes to the way we are organised, to improve
how we work so that we can reduce waste and make faster
progress. But I know that there is so much more to do.
I am always disappointed when I have to write to grant
applicants to tell them their excellent research ideas will
have to be turned down because we don’t have the money
to fund them. Who knows what future breakthroughs
might be in their ideas, and the benefit for patients they
might have realised more quickly? I look forward to the
day when I don’t have to write any of those letters; to get
there we have to make the burden of kidney disease ever
more relevant and attract the significant investment we
need to unlock the answers to this silent killer.
A few months ago, I was enthusiastically describing our
progress and plans to a young man with kidney disease,
and his brother, at a reception. He listened with interest
to my reassuring outline of how much work we are doing,
grateful that so many people are making progress that he
will benefit from. His brother was not so reassured and said:
“That’s all very well, Sandra, but it’s not enough, is it?” Of
course he was right. Too many people’s lives are still being
cut short. Too many patients endure a poorer quality of life.
Together we can realise our vision of lives free from kidney
disease. We are grateful to the people who help us in so
many different ways, and we remain dependent on the
supporters who give time, energy and money throughout
the year. They help us make swifter progress as we tackle the
problems faced by patients every day.

SANDRA CURRIE

|
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Our vision, mission and strategy
THE
KIDNEY
HEALTH
PROBLEM

c Kidney disease currently
has no cure
c Increasing kidney failure
c Black, Asian and ethnic minority
groups at even higher risk
c Acute kidney injury
c Low awareness of kidney disease
c Impact of social, economic
and political changes on CKD

c Treatment is expensive
c Poor quality of life on
dialysis
c Transplants don’t last
long enough
c Not enough donated
kidneys
c Late diagnosis

c Gaps in research
evidence
c Not enough funding
for kidney research
c Not enough research
capacity
c Limited patient
involvement

OUR VISION IS: LIVES FREE FROM KIDNEY DISEASE

OUR
MISSION
IS TO:

c Fund and deliver lifesaving research into
kidney diseases

ACHIEVING
OUR
MISSION –
STRATEGIC
PRIORITIES

INVESTING IN RESEARCH
c Broaden support for
research careers

c Improve treatments
for people with kidney
diseases and enhance
their quality of life

c Build research capacity
through collaboration

c Increase awareness
of kidney health, and
support the early
diagnosis and prevention
of kidney disease and
damage

c Increase innovation

c Work with industry and other
funding partners
ANSWERING KEY QUESTIONS
c Address evidence gaps
in renal research
c Understand why black, Asian
and minority ethnic groups
are at higher risk
c Develop research methods
to learn how to improve the
healthcare system
WORKING WITH PATIENTS
c Where appropriate, fully
involve patients in all aspects
of research and development
c More clinical trials
RAISING AWARENESS
c Address health inequalities
c Develop health education
c Influence change

4 | ANNUAL REPORT 2016-17

ENABLED
THROUGH
INCOME
GENERATION

c Significantly increase the
number of supporters
c Increase lifetime value
across income streams
c Invest more of every
pound donated into
research whilst sustaining
the quality of our work
c Deliver an excellent
supporter experience
c Develop a highly skilled
fundraising team
c Increase innovation in
fundraising

LEADING TO
STRATEGIC
OUTCOMES

c More people know
about kidney disease
and the risks
c More people diagnosed
earlier
c People on dialysis live
better for longer
c More patients in clinical
studies
c More people receive
timely and effective
kidney transplants
c Transplanted kidneys work
better and last longer
c The creation of a more
robust research nurse
capacity
c We are developing
cures for some forms
of kidney disease
c We are delivering
breakthroughs that are
changing people’s lives
c Equal access to research
and treatments
c Research culture embedded
in clinical service

Our goals for 2016-17
and how we did

ACHIEVED
MORE WORK TO DO
PARTLY ACHIEVED
AND MORE TO DO

INVESTING IN RESEARCH AND ANSWERING KEY QUESTIONS
WHAT WE PLANNED TO DO

WHAT WE ACHIEVED

Invest just over £6 million in research and award at least 52
career and research grants, with further contracts to support
ongoing projects. We planned to introduce new awards for
nurses and allied healthcare professionals, and award the David
Kerr Fellowship.

We invested £6.7 million in research and awarded 53 career
and research grants (and 40 other contracts). We were not
able to award the David Kerr Fellowship, but we allocated
other funds to enable us to increase the allied healthcare
professional fellowships to two awards instead.

Recruit the target number of patients for our intravenous iron
clinical trial (PIVOTAL) and bring on new sites for our project to
identify people at greatest risk of kidney failure (ASSIST-CKD).
We also planned to complete a study into the health benefits of
intravenous iron in patients with advanced chronic kidney disease.

We recruited over 1,800 patients to our PIVOTAL trial and
began the follow-up work. New sites were added to our
ASSIST-CKD project but we experienced delays to the Iron
and Heart study, which is now recruiting well and will
finish in 2017-18.

Start two major projects collaborating with pharmaceutical
industry partners – implementing a data and tissue biobank
and a new joint fellowship.

Working with our partners we finalised the plan to invest in
a unique kidney biobank covering England, Scotland and
Wales; we will start collecting samples from kidney patients
in 2017/18. Working with Medimmune, we awarded a PostDoctoral Fellowship to study acute kidney injury.

Review our strategy, ensuring our plans reflected the key
research themes emerging from the UK Renal Research
Strategy. We wanted to take account of the outcomes of the
patient survey and the priority setting partnership work with
the James Lind Alliance on Transplantation. We planned to
support the implementation of the UK Renal Research Strategy.

Our trustees completed the review and we published our
new strategy which you can see in this report. We launched
the UK Renal Research Strategy in April 2016 and working
with the UK Kidney Research Consortium, are monitoring
progress against its aims across the renal sector.

Complete a review of our work in health inequalities and
commission a project to identify important research questions
that should be addressed to understand better why certain
groups are at greater risk of kidney disease.

Whilst we made good progress, we were unable to
complete this work within the year, and are scheduled to
complete the review and report by the end of 2017.

RAISING AWARENESS
Further increase awareness of the charity’s work and of
kidney disease amongst the general public and healthcare
professionals, and continue to increase our influence amongst
decision-makers and policy leads.

We continued our awareness work and saw a small rise in the
number of people who had heard of the charity, but a small fall
in those who had good or some knowledge of kidney disease.
We engaged with healthcare professionals at conferences
and in our public affairs work, and ran three successful
parliamentary events, along with other policy engagement.

GENERATING INCOME AND MANAGING OUR ACTIVITIES EFFECTIVELY
Improve the experience that all supporters, volunteers,
patients, donors, funders and researchers have when they
engage with us. We planned to develop a programme of
enhanced experience that will lead to more people helping
us in more ways.

We made good progress across many of our stakeholder
groups and this is an area we will continue to focus on. In
particular, we changed our approach to give people taking
part in our events a personalised experience and helped them
to raise more funds for our research.

Plan for major changes in our income over the next three years to
reflect the completion of some major projects. We wanted to raise
a total income of £9.8 million in 2016-17 and undertake a review of
our reserves policy to achieve the right balance between investing
in research and providing for a sustainable future.

We raised £9.6 million, an increase of nearly £600k on
the previous year, but a little short of our plan. We
re-planned our budgets for the following years and
implemented a new reserves policy to achieve the
balance we needed.

Invest in development opportunities for our staff and
volunteers so that the charity can meet the challenges of
future years.

We increased our investment in training. We introduced a
core training programme and delivered over 90 individual
training opportunities.

Whilst ensuring the quality of what we do, invest 77 pence in every
pound into our charitable activities, with 23 pence going to raise
the next pound; to continue to measure our progress and work as
effectively and efficiently as we can, as we plan for a cost ratio for
future years that ensures the health and future stability of the charity.

We invested 78 pence into research and awareness, with
22 pence going to raise the next pound. We also planned
some changes in our resources to ensure our continued
development and quality.
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Our year in numbers

2,100

62,000

Patients who
responded to our
survey on research
priorities, telling us
their most important
research areas

People engaging with Kidney
Research UK on Facebook,
Twitter and other social media

£6.7
million

1,800

The amount we invested in
research in the year, 53 career and
innovation grants awarded and
other research contracts

Patients taking part in
our clinical trial on the
optimum use of iron
when treating anaemia

2,600

60

Supporters who ran, cycled,
walked and parachuted to raise
nearly £570,000 for research

Patients who received
a kidney transplant
using the innovative
warm perfusion
technique, funded by
Kidney Research UK

11

More young people we
have encouraged to
consider a career in renal
research by funding a
year’s study each through
our intercalated degree
programme

550

5,200
Supporters who gave
us a monthly gift,
helping us to fund
research now and
into the future

People who helped us in our work
by volunteering their time and skills,
including those who kindly volunteer
to peer review grant applications

6 | ANNUAL REPORT 2016-17

18,000

170

Academic papers
published by
our researchers
advancing our
knowledge about
kidney disease

1,900

Patients in just one site referred to
their GP as being at higher risk of
progressive kidney disease through
our ASSIST-CKD project

Supporters and patients
helped with information by
our Supporter Care team

Examples of
our impact –
our research

Growing our investment
in research
We have managed to sustain our growth in
research investment over recent years. We
invested a record £6.7 million in the year, which
produced 53 new career and innovation grants
to address key research questions, and further
investment in other major projects, such as our
anaemia clinical trial (PIVOTAL).

£6.7M
£5.9M
£5.1M
£4.5M
£3.1M

2012
2013

2013
2014

2014
2015

2015
2016

2016
2017

Growth in research funding
We fund as many high quality studies as we
can, but last year we had to turn down £2.4
million worth of proposals that we really
wanted to accept. Sadly, we have to turn away
many exciting and potentially lifesaving ideas,
because we don’t have the money to say yes.
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Identifying people at
greatest risk of kidney
disease today
Our ASSIST-CKD project looks for early
signs of progressive kidney damage
in patients by combining data from
routine blood tests carried out by GPs
and hospitals through graphs of kidney
function over time. In one site alone,
Doncaster, in the course of the year,
more than 1,900 patients were identified
as being at higher risk. This means that
they can be monitored more closely and
referred to a specialist promptly, if needed.

Simple technique offers
future hope for childhood
kidney diseases
For the first time in
the UK, scientists
have used
kidney cells
extracted from
patients’ urine
and successfully
treated these cells;
this non-invasive
technique allows us to study their
behaviour. At our 2016 Fellows Day
conference, Dr Shalabh Srivastava
(Institute of Genetic Medicine,
Newcastle University) reported on his
work to gain a better understanding of
Nephronophthisis, a type of inherited
cystic kidney disease which generally
affects children. Shalabh and his team also
deployed an innovative technique called
Exon Skipping whereby they can make a
signal ‘skip’ over parts (exons) of defective
genetic code, to make cells act normally,
rather than abnormally.
8 | ANNUAL REPORT 2016-17

Supporting careers and
building research capacity
We want to attract
and inspire the
brightest medical
undergraduates
to consider a
career in renal
research. Our
intercalated
degree grants of
£5,000 enable students to take time out
of their degree studies to join some of
the UK’s leading renal research groups
and focus on special year-long research
projects. One of these is Alex Hollis (24),
who joined the renal research group at
the institute of Biomedical Research,
Birmingham, to focus on kidney
metabolism prior to transplantation. Alex
hopes his work, which completed in 2016,
will eventually help us to find new ways to
alter the metabolism of donated kidneys
in storage so that more become viable for
transplantation.
As a measure of Kidney
Research UK’s
impact, we were
delighted to
learn that Dr
Rachel Lennon
(University of
Manchester), a
clinician scientist, was
awarded a prestigious Wellcome
Senior Research Fellowship in Clinical
Science, worth more than £1.7 million,
to help identify therapeutic targets to
treat chronic kidney disease. The charity
previously funded Rachel’s work through
a studentship and a project grant and
her success illustrates the importance of
Kidney Research UK in developing the
careers of renal researchers.

A charity merger means
a positive future for
research into childhood
kidney diseases
During the year we agreed with the
charity, Kids Kidney Research, that
combining forces would create an even
stronger platform to drive innovation in
understanding and treating childhood
kidney diseases. The founders of Kids
Kidney Research first began fundraising in
1967 and the charity now awards around
£400k in grants every year. Following
the year end, in September 2017, we
completed our merger and Kidney
Research UK has increased its investment
in paediatric kidney research.

We are very proud of the 50
years of our support for research
into childhood kidney diseases.
We decided that it was time to
build on that legacy and join
together with Kidney Research
UK, to ensure an even brighter
future for this area of renal
research.
Dr Richard Trompeter,
Chair of Kids Kidney Research

Regenerative medicine –
inspiration and hope
We convened a meeting of 35 clinicians,
scientists and patients to begin a new
collaborative journey in the field of kidney
regenerative medicine in the UK. The
charity plays a vital facilitating role in
bringing experts together to accelerate
research. The outcome of this meeting
was to launch a regenerative medicine
network to foster new collaborations
and innovation in this cutting edge field.
Kidney Research UK will continue to
support this initiative.

Further investment in
transplantation research
For many people a transplant is not even
an option. For patients who have more
than one transplant their immune systems
become highly sensitised and therefore
their chances of finding a suitable donor
kidney decrease considerably. Under our
Making EVERY Kidney Count Appeal, with a
substantial gift from the Garfield Weston
Trust, we awarded funding to Dr Sian
Griffin (University Hospital of Wales) to
test a new combined treatment. This aims
to reduce antibodies in highly sensitised
patients’ systems to a manageable level,
thereby increasing their chances of
undergoing a successful transplant.

Raising awareness and
working with patients
Empowering patients to
make the right choices

The infographic below about transplantation
reached over 150,000 people on Facebook
as it was so widely shared. Here is just one of
the comments we received:
My other half is still waiting for his
kidney, currently been waiting nearly
7 years for the call. Has high levels of
antibodies so can’t find a match. His
brother was tested but not
a match, mum had cancer
so can’t donate. Been on
dialysis almost 10 years.

Our project team of Peer Educators
worked with clinical colleagues at the
Heart of England NHS Foundation
Trust to help patients make the right
choice of dialysis treatment. There is a
disproportionate take-up of home-based
treatment, particularly amongst people
from black, Asian and minority ethnic
(BAME) communities. Our volunteer Peer
Educators are patients and carers, and
can help empower fellow patients to
reach the right choices for them. They
helped over 40 patients reach a treatment
decision and held five well-attended
patient information days.

Celebrating Women
in Science
To celebrate the UN’s International Day
for Women and Girls in Science, we ran a
successful nationwide awareness campaign
to feature the female researchers we fund
and their achievements
in tackling kidney
disease. Our
campaign also
highlighted some
of the particular
challenges
women face in their
academic careers.
Dr Claire Sharpe

Spreading the word
about kidney disease
and our work
Overall, our communications work in
the year produced over 700 mentions in
the media and a wide social media reach
through our 62,000 followers. We learned
much about the stories and features that
particularly interest our followers.

Please don’t give up hope, we are
funding research into transplantation
of highly sensitised patients
and hope one day to find
answers. Best wishes.
Kidney Research UK

People needing transplants
5,254
526
393
254
217

Getting our voices
heard in parliaments
We continued our profiling of research,
and the policy recommendations arising
from the UK Renal Research Strategy, at a
series of meetings with parliamentarians
across the UK. Assembly members,
kidney patients, researchers and health
care professionals gathered in Cardiff
where they were addressed by Vaughan
Gething AM, Cabinet Secretary for Health
and Wellbeing. Similarly in Edinburgh,
Deputy Convenor of the Health and Sport
Committee, Claire Haughey MSP, spoke to
a capacity audience to hear about Kidney
Research UK’s work. Along with a round
table meeting we held in Westminster,
these events brought together all key
stakeholders to raise the profile of kidney
disease and research.

I’m incredibly impressed with
Kidney Research UK. They really
are, as a team, utterly, totally,
committed to raising money and
spending that money in the best
way to try and drive forward
research and help patients.
Professor Jeremy Hughes, University of
Edinburgh, speaking at our Holyrood
parliamentary reception in December.

Asking patients’
views on research
We undertook our third survey of
patients to find out their views on which
areas of research they think should be
a priority. Previous surveys were run in
2007 and 2013 and, in 2016, we had our
best response ever, with 2,100 patients
giving us their views. The survey
results suggest that future research
should focus on discovering a cure for
kidney diseases, prevention and early
detection, and finding new sources of
organ transplants. These findings will
inform our future activities in research
development and strategy.
Renal research priorities of respondents

1
2

Cures for kidney diseases

3

Finding new sources
of organ transplants

4

E arly detection of
kidney diseases

5

Improving treatments to make
damaged kidneys last longer

6

Improving methods
of transplantation

7

Stem cell research

0

Prevention of kidney diseases

1000

2000

3000

4000

5000

6000

7000
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Generating income and managing
our activities effectively
Raising our income
Trading e.g.
our lottery and
shops £875k

Investments
£381k
Legacies
£3.16 million

Our income was
nearly £9.4 million.
This is where our income
came from in 2016-17

Profiling research
in Liverpool
We wrote to supporters to tell them about
Liverpool-based researcher, Dr Rachel Floyd,
enclosing a letter from Rachel. In this she
told the story of how her research career
developed and how Kidney Research UK had
supported her with a three-year Fellowship,
leading to her now becoming a lecturer
at Liverpool University. Her work concerns
how E. coli can cause infection in the urinary
tract, and why these often become resistant
to antibiotics. Our supporters responded to
Rachel’s letter by kindly donating £40,738 to
Kidney Research UK.

one. Both brothers had multiple kidney
transplants but Stephen sadly passed away
in 1994. Paul decided to do the walk again
to raise awareness of Alport Syndrome,
which affects his whole family, and raise
money for research. He was joined by more
than 900 other walkers who raised over
£60k for Kidney Research UK.

Some feedback from a supporter who
received Rachel’s letter:
Trusts and
Partnerships
£2.40 million

Donations and
events sponsorship
£2.55 million

Investing in our shops
In February, we opened a new shop in Exeter
city centre, twice as big as our previous
premises there, and which will sell a greater
range of goods. Cutting the ribbon was
nine year-old Trenton Gillard, who was born
with one kidney. One month later, on World
Kidney Day, we opened new shop premises
in Cardiff, where we were joined by Kevin
Brennan MP and Professor Donald Fraser
from the Wales Kidney Research Unit.

I wish to say how grateful I
am and to thank all those who
support us, our kind customers,
the wider community, my staff
and volunteers. Every donation
you make, no matter how small
or large, makes a difference.
Darryl Hagley, Shop Manager, Exeter
10 | ANNUAL REPORT 2016-17

With all the bad things going
on in the world today it is the
likes of you, Rachel, and your
colleagues, who bring a ray of
hope and goodness. Thank you.

Building research capacity
through collaboration
We were delighted to partner with
pharmaceutical company, MedImmune,
who contributed over £100k to fund a
post-doctoral Fellowship. This was awarded
to Dr Chia-Te Liao, of Cardiff University,
to study the role of molecules, called
MicroRNAs, in acute kidney injury and the
progression of chronic kidney disease.
Collaboration between industry, academia
and the charity is a vital part of growing
capacity for kidney research and guest
speakers from MedImmune spoke on this
subject at our Fellows Day conference.

Paul’s return to the
London Bridges Walk
It was a poignant moment when Paul
Matthews crossed the finishing line with
family and friends at the 2016 London
Bridges Walk, 26 years after he and his
brother Stephen completed the first ever

Improving our supporters’
experience
We set out to improve the experience
that our supporters receive from us and
made good progress, receiving some great
feedback from people who supported us
in many different ways. We worked hard
to offer more personalised support to our
events participants to help them realise
their fundraising goals, and to ensure they
feel part of our #TEAMKIDNEY. Improving
the experience for our stakeholders, be
they supporters, volunteers, patients,
researchers or partners, is really important
to us and will continue to be a key focus.

Thank you so much for the
lovely email and your fantastic
support for me and the other
Team Kidney riders. It was so
inspiring to be cheered on by the
Kidney Research supporters on
the route and to be so well looked
after once we’d finished.
Ride 100 participant

There has been progress, but
there is more need than ever
In 2006, 44,000 people were
being treated for end stage
kidney failure1. We estimate
that figure has risen to

The lives of more than

Two million are on the CKD
register, meaning that there is

3 million

64,000

a missing
million

people are at risk as a result of
moderate to severe chronic kidney
disease (CKD)6.

at the end of 20162 and
continues to rise.

of undiagnosed patients3

The number of
patients living with
kidney failure increases at

4%

a year.3

In 2007-8, the
waiting list
for a kidney
transplant was

By 2016-17
this had
fallen to

6,980

5,233

4

In 1991-93, 66% of

kidney
transplants
survived
for five years or more. It is now

87%

5

Over
3,700

10

1 in 5

emergency admissions
into hospital are
associated with AKI7

5X
Kidney failure is

more common in
people from black,
Asian and minority
ethnic (BAME)
communities8

We estimate there are

60,000

premature
deaths
each year
in people
with CKD

9

people a year die while on dialysis
and around 250 people a year die
while waiting for a kidney transplant11,
which is more than five people a week

1. UK Renal Registry, 10th Annual Report
2. Estimated figure for December 2016 based on UK Renal Registry, 18th
Annual Report
3. UK Renal Registry, 18th Annual Report
4. NHSBT Activity Report 2016-17
5. NHSBT Activity Report 2016-17
6. Estimated figure for the UK based on: NHS England, NHS Kidney Care –
Chronic Kidney Disease in England – the Human and Financial Cost, 2012

7. Wang et al, Acute Kidney Injury and mortality in hospitalized
patients, American Journal of Nephrology 2012;35:349–355 as
cited in NHS England, Acute Kidney Injury Clinical Study Group,
Available here: www.england.nhs.uk/akiprogramme/
8. Kidney Research UK
9. Estimated figure for the UK based on: NHS England, NHS Kidney
Care - Chronic Kidney Disease in England: The Human and
Financial Cost, 2012

10. U
 K Renal Registry, 18th Annual Report: www.renalreg.org/wpcontent/uploads/2015/01/web_book_07-04-16.pdf
11. N
 HS Blood and Transplant Organ Donation and Transplantation
Activity Report 2015/16, Available here: www.odt.nhs.uk/pdf/
activity-report/activity_report_2015_16.pdf
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What we plan to achieve
in 2017/18 and beyond
INVESTING IN RESEARCH AND
ANSWERING KEY QUESTIONS
I ncrease how much we invest in paediatric kidney research by completing the
merger with Kids Kidney Research and introducing a new £500k grants round.
 nswer more research questions by investing £8.5 million in research, increasing
A
the number of high quality research grants we fund from 53 in 2016-17 to 58 in
2017-18.
 egin collecting samples to support future research advances by implementing
B
the first unique kidney biobank for England, Scotland and Wales.
Identify the research questions that will address priority evidence gaps through
facilitating new research networks.
Identify people at greater risk from chronic kidney disease by working with GPs,
pathology labs and hospitals.

 rovide hope for communities that are at greater risk of kidney disease by
P
identifying the questions we need to answer to understand the root causes.
 rive future benefit for kidney patients by developing partnerships with
D
organisations who work in areas related to kidney disease, such as diabetes.

 elp people from communities facing health inequalities in treatment choice
H
and organ donation by continuing our peer educator work.
 aise the profile of kidney disease through our awareness work and by engaging
R
with policy-makers, in line with the aims of the UK Renal Research Strategy.
I ncrease our engagement with patients and provide support to patient groups to
enable them to discover more about innovation and research progress.

GENERATING INCOME AND MANAGING
OUR ACTIVITIES EFFECTIVELY
Fund growth in our work by raising a total income of £10.7 million.
E nsure the quality of what we do, whilst aiming to invest at least 75 pence in
each pound we raise into our research and awareness work, with 25 pence or
less helping us to raise the next pound.
E quip ourselves to achieve our ambitious aims by investing more in the
training and development of our people.
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CH UK

RAISING AWARENESS AND
WORKING WITH PATIENTS

KID
N
E
Y
RESEA
R

I mprove quality of life for people on dialysis by preparing to complete our study
into the optimum way to manage anaemia.

Report from the trustees
Financial review
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Where our income
came from
We are pleased to report a 4.3% increase
in income of £384k to £9.37 million.
It was a good year for legacy income,
which raised £3.16 million, and for
our collaborative projects. These were
PIVOTAL, ASSIST-CKD and the NURTuRE
data and tissue biobank project, all of
which brought in £2.40 million.

Trading Income

£875k

£381k

This includes charity
shop income as well as
income from our raffles

Other areas were impacted by the
charity’s active commitment to adhere
to the swift changes in standards of
the Institute of Fundraising’s Code of
Fundraising Practice. Income from areas
affected was down on the previous year,
due to the charity adjusting its mix of
marketing activities in response to the
code changes. Costs of raising income
were also reduced.
We also took the decision to reduce by
£250k the value of a gift awarded to
us in 2014/15. After the year end, we
realised part of our gain on investments
to underpin the research grant already
awarded, and in order to provide time to
maximise the value of this generous gift.

Investment Income

Legacies

£3.16
million
TOTAL INCOME

£9.37
million

Trusts and
Partnerships

£2.40 million

Donations and Gifts

This includes income to support our
PIVOTAL trial as well as ASSIST-CKD
and the start of NURTuRE, the data and
kidney biobank collaboration.

This includes one-off donations as
well as regular giving.

Where the money is spent
Our total expenditure for the year was
£10.2 million split between research,
awareness and education and investing
to raise the next pound. Charitable
expenditure reached £7.95 million in the
year, an increase of £558k (7.5%) arising
from a £767k increase in research and a
decrease of £210k in raising awareness
and education. A graph showing the
year on year increase in charitable
expenditure can be seen on page 7 of
Our Impact 2016-17.
We strive to work efficiently and invest
as much as possible of each pound in
research and raising awareness. We are
pleased to report that the pence in the
pound increased by 1.2 pence in the year.
Going forward we have to keep a balance
between a strong pence in the pound ratio
whilst maintaining the quality of what
we do. We also need to remain financially
stable into the future, which needs
investment in our ability to raise more
money.
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£2.55 million

Trading

£474k

Awareness
and Education

This includes the cost of running
our charity shops and raffles.

£1.23
million
This includes working
with patients and
raising awareness
of kidney disease.

Investment
Management
costs

£19k
TOTAL
EXPENDITURE

£10.2
million

Generating Income

£1.77 million

Research

£6.72 million
This includes research and career
development.

Pence in the pound
invested in research and
awareness in 2017:

Pence in the pound
invested in research
and awareness in 2016:

79 pence

77.8 pence

Investments

c Designated Funds

In the year, the value of the charity’s
investments portfolio increased to
£15.8 million, generating an unrealised
gain of £1.5 million and income of
£381k. Total returns on the portfolio
out-performed the benchmark by
0.2% and income exceeded the target
by £81k. After the year-end, trustees
decided to realise some of this gain.
This is covered under Reserves below.

These are funds already identified for
expenditure on research, awareness
and education, and some allowance for
operational commitments.

the performance of the charity and
its investments over the coming 12
months to determine how further gains
might be realised to support additional
direct charitable expenditure.

c General Funds

Public Benefit

The core requirements for the charity’s
general reserves are:
a) to cover a period of continuity for
key operations in the event of an
emergency which stops the charity
from generating voluntary income;
and
b) to cover the eventual winding up
costs of the charity should closure
become necessary.

At close of business on the 22
September 2017, the last business day
before approval of these accounts, the
investments have a market value of
£15,957,548. This represents a rise in value
of £177,201 since 31 March 2017.

Financial Position
Total reserves at the end of the year
totalled £9.93 million (£9.2 million 2015/16)
of which £4.14 million are General Funds.
See the Reserves Policy below for details.

Reserves Policy
In the year, the Reserves Policy and
benchmark for measurement against were
reviewed for suitability and updated as
follows:
The charity’s reserves policy is to maintain
the following reserves:
c Restricted Funds
These are funds that have been donated
to the charity for a specific purpose.

The benchmark for the charity’s General
Funds has been set at 9 to 12 months’ of
operating expenditure.
At the year-end, General Reserves
were almost 22 months’ of operating
expenditure, mainly due to the
£1.5 million unrealised gain in
investments. Without this gain,
General Reserves would have been
13.9 months’ of operating expenditure.
Trustees agreed to withdraw £1 million
from the investment portfolio and
in June 2017 were able to fund an
additional research grant of £230k
above those already planned, underpin
a research commitment of £500k which
the charity has underwritten while
additional funding is being secured, and
to cover the £250k reduction in value
of the gift which value has not yet been
realised and referred to in the Income
Section above.
In the current uncertain economic
environment the Trustees will monitor

In reviewing aims, objectives and
planning future activities, the trustees
have taken into account the Charity
Commission’s guidance on public
benefit. The trustees ensure that the
activities undertaken are in line with
the aims of Kidney Research UK.

Investment policy
Reserves are supported by an
investment portfolio which is actively
managed by Cazenove Capital
Management to maximise long-term
total return while maintaining a level
of diversification and intermediate risk
profile. Income of £300k p.a. is invested
in research. Surplus cash arising from
the different timings of income and
grant payments is invested securely.
There is no direct investment in
tobacco-related financial vehicles.
The Finance and Risk Committee
provides the mandate for the charity’s
investment manager and monitors
performance and position against
agreed benchmarks. While maintaining
an intermediate risk profile, the
portfolio delivered income of £381k
and total return, net of fees, of 16.7% in
the year. This was against a benchmark
of 16.5%.
The treatment of the unrealised gain
of over £1.5 million has been covered
under Reserves Policy above.
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Structure and Governance

Kidney Research UK is a company limited
by guarantee, Company Registration No.
00905963, and is registered with the
Charity Commission 252892 (England and
Wales) and SC039245 (Scotland).
The charity is governed by its Memorandum
and Articles of Association. In the event
of the charity being wound up, company
members are each required to contribute
an amount not exceeding £1. The wholly
owned subsidiary company, Kidney
Research Enterprises Limited, Company
Registration No.2932606 undertakes
trading and retail activities for the benefit
of Kidney Research UK.
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People
Trustees
The following trustees were in office during the year and served throughout the year except where indicated.
TRUSTEES

SUBCOMMITTEE MEMBER

APPOINTED/RETIRED

Professor John Feehally (Chair) MA DM FRCP

RSC, F&R & RC

Chair

Professor Fiona Karet PhD FHEA FRCP FMedSci

RSC

01/01/17 – 31/03/17 non-voting
member due to planned sabbatical

Lorna Marson MB BS MD FRCSEng FRCSEd

RSC

Professor Adrian Woolf MA MD

Chair RSC

27/09/16 re-appointed for 3 years
(with effect from 29/03/15)

Iain Pearson BSc

Chair F&R & RC

27/09/16 re-appointed for 3 years

Federica Pizzasegola
F&R

David Prosser MSt (Cantab) FCA
Anna-Maria Steel MA
Andrew Tripp

F&R

Charles Tomson MA BM BCh FRCP DM

RSC

Tom Kelly

06/12/16 appointed

Ashok Patel

27/09/16 retired

Committee key
RSC Research Strategy Committee | RGC Research Grants Committee | F&R Finance and Risk Committee | RC Remuneration Committee
The Past President of the Renal Association attends and contributes to Trustee Committee meetings and discussions

Twelve to fourteen trustees with a balance
of experience and expertise meeting at least
four times a year is considered optimal for
the charity. The mix of skills and length of
service of members is monitored to ensure a
good balance is maintained and succession
is planned in a timely way. Trustees are
encouraged to apply their specific skills and
experience to relevant areas in the charity
and several are members of sub-committees
of the Board. Training is provided throughout
the period of service. All instances where a
trustee may have a conflict of interest are
recorded and dealt with in a transparent
and appropriate way in accordance with the
charity’s established procedures.
Trustees serve a maximum of two threeyear periods and can only, by exception
and with permission from the Board,
extend for a defined period. At the end of
the trustee’s service, he/she is not eligible for
reappointment at any time.

The trustees set the strategy of the
charity with the management team, and
oversee its implementation. The Senior
Management Team is responsible for the
delivery of this agreed strategy.
Four sub-committees support the Board
under terms of reference agreed with
the Board.
c The Research Strategy Committee
sets the strategic focus for research
funding.
c The Research Grants Committee, made
up of experts in renal medicine and
patient representation, make funding
recommendations to the Board after
reviewing grant applications under an
agreed process.
c The Finance and Risk Committee
monitors the charity’s performance,
governance and areas of risk.

c The Remuneration Committee
oversees the charity’s remuneration
policy and its implementation.
In addition, the charity has a Lay
Advisory Committee which comprises
kidney patients and other lay members.
Operating under formal terms of
reference, ratified by the Board, the
committee advises the charity and
trustees on issues affecting kidney
patients. Members are actively engaged
in many areas of the charity including
promoting the charity and its work
to the wider community, providing a
patient viewpoint to public consultations,
reaching out to other patient networks,
acting as a sounding board for research
ideas and plans, and acting as charity
ambassadors at selected events
throughout the year. The committee has
between 15 and 25 members.

Trustee Board

Senior
Management
Team
(SMT)

Research
Strategy
Committee
(RSC)

Research
Grants
Committee
(RGC)

Finance
and Risk
Committee
(F&R)

Remuneration
Committee
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Key management

Staff Development

The Senior Management Team runs
the charity on a day-to-day basis. This
team comprises: the Chief Executive,
Directors of Finance, Research Operations,
Communications, Research Development,
Fundraising and Heads of Insight and
Engagement and Human Resources.

The charity aims for all our people to
work together effectively. Development
of all employees, both on a personal and
professional level, is key. In the year, our
training programme delivered over 90
individual training opportunities including
training in leadership, management
and coaching skills. The charity has also
benefited greatly from the generous
pro bono support of Birdsong Charity
Consulting and BT Business’s continuous
improvement team.

Remuneration and Staff
Development
Remuneration
The charity’s policy on remuneration is
guided by the following principles:
1 Fairness to employees, supporters and

the general public

2 Recruitment and retention of the

appropriate calibre of staff

3 Recognition and reward of contribution

to the charity

4 Compliance with current legislation

e.g. minimum wage

5 Recognition of best practice in the

charity sector, including transparency
to staff and other stakeholders.

Pay rates and other benefits are
benchmarked within the voluntary sector
at least every three years, and bi-annually
for Senior Management remuneration. Our
policy is to position our pay levels at the
median rate, based on local and national
market data. The objective of this approach
is to attract, retain and motivate employees
of the quality required to run the charity
successfully, in line with strategic plans, but
without paying more than is necessary.
The Remuneration Committee meets
at least annually and advises on the
remuneration policy of the charity
and oversees its implementation. The
committee performs this duty by:
cA
 greeing Kidney Research UK’s
overall approach to remuneration,
including relative position within the
relevant labour market and employee
benefits including pension provision.
Also reviewing the relative levels of
remuneration across the organisation.
cR
 eviewing from time to time, and at least
every three years, pay and benefits trends
and benchmark pay rates and benefits,
within the voluntary sector.
cR
 eviewing annually recommendations
from the Chief Executive for general
salary adjustments.
cM
 onitoring the remuneration of the
Senior Management Team, benchmarked
against independent external data.
cA
 greeing the remuneration of the Chief
Executive in the context of market rates
and benchmarks, personal performance,
the scope and complexity of the role and
affordability.
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Measuring the staff satisfaction of our
charity against others is also important to
us. Every two years, employees participate
in an independently managed online staff
survey. The results are reviewed to highlight
the elements of working for Kidney
Research UK which staff enjoy as well as to
identify priorities for future attention. The
latest survey was completed in May 2017.

Grant Making
Applications for funding are formally peer
reviewed by experts in their field. They
are then prioritised by quality of science
and reviewed by the Research Grants
Committee. This committee makes a
recommendation for funding to trustees for
their review and approval. In all instances
where there is a conflict of interest, the
committee member is excluded from any
discussion and decision.
For more information on our research
strategy, please refer to our website:
www.kidneyresearchuk.org/research/
research-strategy

Our Fundraising approach
The charity is registered with the
Fundraising Regulator and adheres to
the standards of the Code of Fundraising
Practice. Our fundraising activity is diverse
and includes direct mail, sponsored events
and treks, community activities, collections
and gala dinners. All our activities adhere
to our Fundraising Promise and our Privacy
Policy. Both of these are available for
supporters to read on our website:
www.kidneyresearchuk.org/about-us/
fundraising-promise
www.kidneyresearchuk.org/privacypolicy-cookies
In summary, when you support us you can
be sure of the following:
c We will never sell your contact details to
anyone
c We will only contact you if you have
expressed an interest in our work
c If we phone you, we will always check you
are happy to take the call
c If you ask us to change how we
communicate with you, or stop, we will
respond swiftly to your request

c We do not engage in cold calling, door to
door or street fundraising
c We try to ensure no one ever feels
pressurised to support our work
c All our activities are open, fair, honest
and legal.
In 2016-17, the charity worked with
carefully selected partners to deliver
fundraising activity, each of whom adhere
to the Fundraising Code of Practice and
have robust policies in place regarding
vulnerable people and treating donors
fairly. We have a training programme for all
our fundraising staff to regularly reinforce
our fundraising ethics.
We endeavour to exceed the expectations of
all our supporters, although we did receive
(79) complaints about our fundraising
activity during the year. Although these
represented a very small proportion of the
number of engagements we have with our
supporters, we take all complaints very
seriously and strive to learn from them.
All the complaints we received in the year
were promptly resolved to the supporters’
satisfaction. Only two complaints were
escalated to the Fundraising Regulator, and
these too were fully resolved.

Risk Management
The Senior Management Team on a
monthly basis reviews risks to the charity
as a whole and to significant projects and
records them in risk registers. Individuals
within the Senior Management Team take
responsibility for these risks and mitigating
controls.
Key risks relate to the delivery of our major
projects, our reputation, raising enough
funds to achieve our strategic aims while
adhering to our fundraising promise and
the right treatment of data, under guidance
from the Information Commissioner’s Office
(ICO) which is still developing.
We control risks by following recognised
good practice in checking our compliance
with the law and other obligations, having
clear and meaningful measures to check
progress against our goals and having a
structure which enables us to take prompt
action when necessary.
The Finance and Risk Committee regularly
reviews our exposure to risk and ensures
that we have adequate risk management
systems in place. This is achieved by carrying
out a rolling detailed review of the risks of
the charity recorded in the risk register. This
is considered an effective way for trustees
to evaluate significant risks to the charity,
to establish the degree to which the risks
are controlled and moderated, and to
determine necessary action. Over the year,
the Finance and Risk Committee reviewed
risks to the charity and the charity’s risk
registers in detail and shared their views
with the Board of Trustees.

Statement of trustees’
responsibilities
The trustees (who are also
the directors of Kidney
Research UK for the
purposes of company law)
are responsible for preparing
the trustees’ report and
the financial statements in
accordance with applicable
law and United Kingdom
Accounting Standards (United
Kingdom Generally Accepted
Accounting Practice).
Company law requires the
trustees to prepare financial
statements for each financial
year which give a true and
fair view of the state of
affairs of the charity and the
group, and of the income and
expenditure of the group, for
that period.

In preparing these financial statements, the trustees are
required to:
c select suitable accounting policies and then apply them consistently;
c observe the methods and principles in Accounting and Reporting by
Charities Statement of Recommended Practice applicable to charities
preparing their accounts in accordance with the Financial Reporting
Standard applicable to the United Kingdom and Republic of Ireland
(FRS102);
c make judgments and estimates that are reasonable and prudent;
c state whether applicable United Kingdom Accounting Standards
have been followed, subject to any material departures disclosed and
explained in the financial statements; and
c prepare the financial statements on the going concern basis unless it
is inappropriate to presume that the charity will continue in operation.
The trustees are responsible for keeping proper accounting records that
disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the financial position
of the charity and group and enable them to ensure that the financial
statements comply with the Companies Act 2006, the Charities and
Trustee Investment (Scotland) Act 2005 and the Charities Accounts
(Scotland) Regulations 2006. They are also responsible for safeguarding
the assets of the charity and group and hence for taking reasonable
steps for the prevention and detection of fraud and other irregularities.

Each of the trustees confirms that:
c so far as the trustee is aware, there is no relevant audit information of
which the charity’s auditor is unaware; and
c the trustee has taken all the steps that he/she ought to have taken as
a trustee in order to make himself/herself aware of any relevant audit
information and to establish that the charity’s auditor is aware of that
information.
This confirmation is given and should be interpreted in accordance with
the provisions of s418 of the Companies Act 2006.
The trustees are responsible for the maintenance and integrity of the
corporate and financial information included on the charity’s website.
Legislation in the United Kingdom governing the preparation and
dissemination of financial statements may differ from legislation in
other jurisdictions.

The Trustees’ report, which incorporates the requirements
of the Strategic Report, is signed on their behalf by:

John Feehally
Chairman
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Independent auditor’s report
to the trustees and members
of Kidney Research UK

We have audited the financial statements
of Kidney Research UK for the year
ended 31 March 2017 which comprise
the Consolidated Statement of Financial
Activities, the Consolidated and Charity
Company Balance Sheets, the Consolidated
Statement of Cash Flows and the related
notes. The financial reporting framework
that has been applied in their preparation
is applicable law and United Kingdom
Accounting Standards including Financial
Reporting Standard 102 The Financial
Reporting Standard applicable in the UK
and Republic of Ireland (United Kingdom
Generally Accepted Accounting Practice).
This report is made solely to the charitable company’s members,
as a body, in accordance with Chapter 3 of Part 16 of the
Companies Act 2006, section 44(1)(c) of the Charities and Trustee
Investment (Scotland) Act 2005 and regulation 10 of the Charities
Accounts (Scotland) Regulations 2006 . Our audit work has been
undertaken so that we might state to the charitable company’s
members those matters we are required to state to them in an
auditor’s report and for no other purpose. To the fullest extent
permitted by law, we do not accept or assume responsibility to
anyone other than the charitable company and the charitable
company’s members as a body, for our audit work, for this report,
or for the opinions we have formed.
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Respective responsibilities of trustees and auditor
As explained more fully in the Trustees’ Responsibilities Statement set out on page 19, the trustees (who are also the
directors of the charitable company for the purposes of company law) are responsible for the preparation of the financial
statements and for being satisfied that they give a true and fair view.
We have been appointed auditor under the Companies Act 2006 and section 44(1)(c) of the Charities and Trustee
Investment (Scotland) Act 2005. Our responsibility is to audit and express an opinion on the financial statements in
accordance with applicable law and International Standards on Auditing (UK and Ireland). Those standards require us to
comply with the Auditing Practices Board’s Ethical Standards for Auditors.

Scope of the audit of the financial statements
A description of the scope of an audit of financial statements is provided on the Financial Reporting Council’s website at
www.frc.org.uk/auditscopeukprivate.

Opinion on financial statements
In our opinion the financial statements:
c give a true and fair view of the state of the group’s and the parent charitable company’s affairs as at 31 March 2017
and of the group’s and the parent charitable company’s net movement in funds, including the group’s income and
expenditure, for the year then ended;
c have been properly prepared in accordance with United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice; and
c have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006 and the Charities and Trustee
Investment (Scotland) Act 2005 and regulation 8 of the Charities Accounts (Scotland) Regulations 2006 (as amended).

Opinion on other matters prescribed by the Companies Act 2006
In our opinion, based on the work undertaken in the course of the audit:
c the information given in the Trustees’ Annual Report (which incorporates the strategic report and the directors’ report)
for the financial year for which the financial statements are prepared is consistent with the financial statements; and
c the Trustees’ Annual Report (which incorporates the strategic report and the directors’ report) has been prepared in
accordance with applicable legal requirements.
In the light of our knowledge and understanding of the charitable company and its environment obtained in the course
of the audit, we have not identified material misstatements in the Trustees’ Annual Report (which incorporates the
strategic report and the directors’ report).

Matters on which we are required to report by exception
We have nothing to report in respect of the following matters where the Companies Act 2006 and
the Charity Accounts (Scotland) Regulations 2006 (as amended) requires us to report to you if, in
our opinion:
c the charitable company and group have not kept adequate and sufficient accounting records, or returns adequate for
our audit have not been received from branches not visited by us; or
c the consolidated charitable company financial statements are not in agreement with the accounting records and
returns; or
c certain disclosures of trustees’ remuneration specified by law are not made; or
c we have not received all the information and explanations we require for our audit.

Kathryn Burton (Senior statutory auditor)
for and on behalf of haysmacintyre, Statutory Auditor
26 Red Lion Square, London WC1R 4AG
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Consolidated statement
of financial activities
Year to 31 March 2017

Notes

Unrestricted
funds
£

Restricted
funds
£

2017
Total
funds
£

2016
Total
funds
£

1

5,712,255

—

5,712,255

5,279,372

2

875,130

—

875,130

1,046,571

3

381,060

—

381,060

375,670

4

52,299
7,020,744

2,352,128
2,352,128

2,404,427
9,372,872

2,287,557
8,989,170

. Costs of raising donations and legacies

1,766,336

—

1,766,336

1,731,048

. Fundraising trading: cost of goods sold
and other costs

474,272

—

18,785

—

474,272
18,785

490,793
35,811

2,259,393

—

2,259,393

2,257,652

. Research

4,122,088

2,593,406

6,715,494

5,948,285

. Awareness and education

1,064,757

164,830

1,229,587

1,439,201

5,186,845

2,758,236

7,945,081

7,387,486

7,446,238

2,758,236

10,204,474

9,645,138

(425,494)

(406,108)

(831,602)

(655,968)

1,525,478

—

1,525,478

(538,184)
(1,194,152)

Income from:
Donations and legacies
Other trading activities
Investment income
Income from charitable activities
Total income
Expenditure on:
Cost of raising funds

. Investment management costs
Expenditure on charitable activities

Total expenditure

5

Net (expenditure) income for the year before
investment gains
Net gains (losses) on investments
Net (expenditure) income for the year
Transfer between funds
Net movement in funds

13

1,099,986

(406,108)

693,878

62,650

(62,650)

—

1,162,636

(468,758)

693,878

8,653,598

579,010

9,232,608

10,426,760

9,816,234

110,252

9,926,486

9,232,608

—
(1,194,152)

Reconciliation of funds
Fund balances brought forward
at 1 April 2016
Fund balances carried forward
at 31 March 2017

All of the group’s activities were derived from continuing operations during the above two financial
periods. All recognised gains and losses are included in the above consolidated statement of financial
activities. Full prior year comparatives are included in note 26.
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Balance sheets
31 March 2017

Group*
2017
£

2016
£

2017
£

2016
£

12
109,799
13 10,616,680
10,726,479

122,375
10,137,445
10,259,820

74,011
10,766,680
10,840,691

115,668
10,287,445
10,403,113

14
15
13

44,394
4,291,328
3,770,298
2,445,146
10,551,166

—
3,301,731
5,163,666
3,965,006
12,430,403

—
4,206,284
3,770,299
2,117,237
10,093,820

Notes
Fixed assets
Tangible assets
Investments
Current assets
Stocks
Debtors
Investments
Cash at bank and in hand
Liabilities:
Creditors: amounts falling due
within one year
Net current assets

12,236,185
17

Net assets
The funds of the charity
Restricted funds
. Action for Alports Campaign
. Other restricted funds
Unrestricted funds
. Designated funds
. General funds

45,821
3,420,198
5,163,666
4,074,846
12,704,531

16 (11,194,825)
1,509,706

Total assets less current
liabilities
Creditors: amounts falling due
after one year

Charity

18
18

19

(7,945,847) (11,219,411)
2,605,319
1,210,992

12,865,139

12,051,683

(7,812,955)
2,280,865

12,683,978

(2,309,699)

(3,632,531)

(2,309,699)

(3,632,531)

9,926,486

9,232,608

9,741,984

9,051,447

(22,030)
132,282
110,252
5,679,659
4,136,575
9,926,486

(49,953)
628,963
579,010
5,202,425
3,451,173
9,232,608

(22,030)
132,282
110,252
5,679,659
3,952,073
9,741,984

(49,953)
628,963
579,010
5,202,425
3,270,012
9,051,447

*These financial statements consolidate the results of the charity and its wholly owned subsidiary, Kidney Research
Enterprises Limited. The unconsolidated surplus/(deficit) of the charity was £690,537 (2016: deficit of £1,196,970).
Approved by the Board of Trustees and signed on their behalf by:

John Feehally
Chairman of Kidney Research UK
Company Registration Number: 00905963 (England and Wales)
Approved on:
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Consolidated statement
of cash flows
Year to 31 March 2017

2017
£

2016
£

A 1,657,676

1,238,208

Notes
Cash flow from operating activities:
Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities
Cash flow from investing activities:
Dividends and interest from investments
Purchase of tangible fixed assets
Proceeds from the disposal of investments
Purchase of investments
Net cash provided by investing activities

381,060
375,670
(61,911)
(27,927)
1,467,296 2,840,481
(1,669,601) (2,617,332)
116,844
570,892

Change in cash and cash equivalents in the year

1,774,520

1,809,100

Cash and cash equivalents at 1 April 2016

B 4,427,778

2,618,678

Cash and cash equivalents at 31 March 2017

B 6,202,298

4,427,778

Notes to the statement of cash flows for the year to 31 March 2017.
A

Reconciliation of net movement in funds to net cash provided by (used in) operating
activities
2017
£

2016
£

Net movement in funds (as per the statement of financial
693,877 (1,194,152)
activities)
Adjustments for:
Depreciation charge
74,488
81,549
Losses (gains) on investments
(1,525,478)
538,184
Dividends and interest from investments
(381,060)
(375,670)
(Increase) decrease in stocks
(1,427)
(8,223)
Decrease (increase) in debtors
871,130
292,204
Increase in creditors
1,926,146 1,904,316
Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities
1,657,676 1,238,208

B

Analysis of cash and cash equivalents

Cash at bank and in hand
Cash held by investment managers
Total cash and cash equivalents
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2017
£

2016
£

4,074,846
2,127,452
6,202,298

2,445,146
1,982,632
4,427,778

Principal accounting policies
31 March 2017

The principal accounting policies adopted, judgements and key sources of estimation
uncertainty in the preparation of the accounts are laid out below.

Basis of preparation
These accounts have been prepared for the year to 31 March 2017.
The accounts have been prepared under the historical cost convention with items recognised
at cost or transaction value unless otherwise stated in the relevant accounting policies below
or the notes to these accounts.
The accounts have been prepared in accordance with Accounting and Reporting by Charities:
Statement of Recommended Practice applicable to charities preparing their accounts in
accordance with the Financial Reporting Standard applicable in the United Kingdom and
Republic of Ireland (FRS 102) (Charities SORP FRS 102) issued on 16 July 2014, the Financial
Reporting Standard applicable in the UK and Republic of Ireland (FRS 102) and the Charities
Act 2011.
The charity constitutes a public benefit entity as defined by FRS 102.
The accounts are presented in sterling and are rounded to the nearest pound.

Critical accounting estimates and areas of judgement
Preparation of the accounts requires the trustees and management to make significant
judgements and estimates.
The items in the accounts where these judgements and estimates have been made include:
 estimating the liability for multi-year grant commitments;
 estimating the useful economic life of tangible fixed assets;
 estimating the probability of the receipt of legacy income and estimating the amount to
be received.

Assessment of going concern
The trustees have assessed whether the use of the going concern assumption is appropriate
in preparing these accounts. The trustees have made this assessment in respect to a period of
one year from the date of approval of these accounts.
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Assessment of going concern (continued)
The trustees of the charity have concluded that there are no material uncertainties related to
events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the ability of the charity to continue
as a going concern. The trustees are of the opinion that the charity will have sufficient
resources to meet its liabilities as they fall due. The most significant areas of judgement that
affect items in the accounts are detailed above. With regard to the next accounting period,
the year ending 31 March 2017, the most significant areas that affect the carrying value of the
assets held by the charity are the level of investment return and the performance of the
investment markets (see the investment policy and the risk management sections of the
trustees’ report for more information).

Basis of consolidation
These financial statements consolidate the results of the charity and its wholly owned
subsidiary, Kidney Research Enterprises Limited, on a line by line basis. A separate statement
of financial activities and income and expenditure account are not presented by the charity
itself following the exemption afforded by section 408 of the Companies Act 2006.

Income recognition
Income is recognised in the period in which the charity has entitlement to the income, the
amount of income can be measured reliably and it is probable that the income will be received.
Income comprises donations, income from trading activities, income from charitable activities
and investment income.
Donations are recognised when the charity has confirmation of both the amount and
settlement date. In the event of donations pledged but not received, the amount is accrued for
where the receipt is considered probable. In the event that a donation is subject to conditions
that require a level of performance before the charity is entitled to the funds, the income is
deferred and not recognised until either those conditions are fully met, or the fulfilment of
those conditions is wholly within the control of the charity and it is probable that those
conditions will be fulfilled in the reporting period.
In accordance with the Charities SORP FRS 102 volunteer time is not recognised.
Donated goods are normally distributed very soon after receipt by the charity. Stocks of
donated goods held at the reporting date are immaterial. Under these circumstances, the cost
of valuing all donated goods upon receipt by the charity outweighs the benefit to the users of
the accounts of providing this information. Consequently, donated goods are included within
income when sold or distributed and no value is placed on stock of such items at the year end.
Legacies are included in the statement of financial activities when the charity is entitled to the
legacy, the executors have established that there are sufficient surplus assets in the estate to
pay the legacy, and any conditions attached to the legacy are within the control of the charity.
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Income recognition (continued)
Entitlement is taken as the earlier of the date on which either: the charity is aware that probate
has been granted, the estate has been finalised and notification has been made by the executor
to the charity that a distribution will be made, or when a distribution is received from the
estate. Receipt of a legacy, in whole or in part, is only considered probable when the amount
can be measured reliably and the charity has been notified of the executor’s intention to make
a distribution. Where legacies have been notified to the charity, or the charity is aware of the
granting of probate, but the criteria for income recognition have not been met, then the legacy
is treated as a contingent asset and disclosed if material. In the event that the gift is in the
form of an asset other than cash or a financial asset traded on a recognised stock exchange,
recognition is subject to the value of the gift being reliably measurable with a degree of
reasonable accuracy and the title of the asset having being transferred to the charity.
Grants from government and other agencies have been included as income from charitable
activities where these amount to a contract for services, but as donations where the money is
given in response to an appeal or with greater freedom of use, for example monies for core
funding.
Dividends are recognised once the dividend has been declared and notification has been
received of the dividend due.
Interest on funds held on deposit is included when receivable and the amount can be measured
reliably by the charity; this is normally upon notification of the interest paid or payable by the
bank.

Expenditure recognition
Liabilities are recognised as expenditure as soon as there is a legal or constructive obligation
committing the charity to make a payment to a third party, it is probable that a transfer of
economic benefits will be required in settlement and the amount of the obligation can be
measured reliably.
All expenditure is accounted for on an accruals basis. Expenditure comprises direct costs and
support costs. All expenses, including support costs, are allocated or apportioned to the
applicable expenditure headings. The classification between activities is as follows:




Expenditure on raising funds includes all expenditure associated with raising funds for the
charity. This includes investment management fees, staff costs associated with
fundraising, the costs associated with fundraising trading activity and an allocation of
support costs.
Expenditure on charitable activities includes all costs associated with furthering the
charitable purposes of the charity through the provision of its charitable activities. Such
costs include grants and awards made for research, and direct and support costs in respect
to education and awareness, including governance costs.
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Expenditure recognition (continued)


Grants payable by the charity are included in the statement of financial activities when
approved and when the intended recipient has either received the funds or been informed
of the decision to make the grant and has satisfied all performance conditions. Grants
approved but not paid at the end of the financial year are accrued. Grants where the
beneficiary has not been informed or has to fulfil performance conditions before the grant
is released are not accrued for but are disclosed as financial commitments in the notes to
the financial statements.
 The provision of a multi-year grant is recognised at its present value where settlement is
due over more than one year from the date of the award, there are no unfulfilled
performance conditions under the control of the charity that would permit the charity to
avoid making the future payments, settlement is probable and the effect of the discounting
is material. The discount rate used is the average rate of investment yield in the year in
which the grant is made. This discount rate is regarded by the trustees as providing the
most current available estimate of the opportunity cost of money reflecting the time value
of money to the charity.
 The pension charge represents payments to a defined contribution scheme which are
charged to the statement of financial activities in the period to which they relate.
All expenditure is stated inclusive of irrecoverable VAT.

Allocation of support and governance costs
Support costs represent indirect charitable expenditure. In order to carry out the primary
purposes of the charity it is necessary to provide support in the form of personnel
development, financial procedures, provision of office services and equipment, and a suitable
working environment.
Governance costs comprise the costs involving the public accountability of the charity
(including audit costs) and costs in respect to its compliance with regulation and good practice.
Support costs, including staff related costs and governance costs, are apportioned based on
the staff time spent on each activity.

Tangible fixed assets
All assets costing more than £500 and with an expected useful life exceeding one year are
capitalised.
Tangible fixed assets are capitalised and depreciated at the following annual rates in order to
write them off over their estimated useful lives:
 Leasehold land buildings
Over the life of the lease
 Computer software and equipment
33.3% per annum based on cost
 Fixtures, fittings and equipment
15% per annum based on cost
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Fixed asset investments
Listed investments are a form of basic financial instrument and are initially recognised at their
transaction value and subsequently measured at their fair value as at the balance sheet date
using the closing quoted market price.
The charity does not acquire put options, derivatives or other complex financial instruments.
As noted above, the main form of financial risk faced by the charity is that of volatility in equity
markets and investment markets due to wider economic conditions, the attitude of investors
to investment risk, and changes in sentiment concerning equities and within particular sectors
or sub sectors.
Realised gains (or losses) on investment assets are calculated as the difference between
disposal proceeds and their opening carrying value or their purchase value if acquired
subsequent to the first day of the financial year. Unrealised gains and losses are calculated as
the difference between the fair value at the year end and their carrying value at that date.
Realised and unrealised investment gains (or losses) are combined in the statement of financial
activities and are credited (or debited) in the year in which they arise.
Investments are included within the current assets where it is anticipated that they may need
to be utilised to meet grant commitments. Investments equating to 50% of grants payable
within one year are therefore included as current assets.

Debtors
Debtors are recognised at their settlement amount, less any provision for non-recoverability.
Prepayments are valued at the amount prepaid. They have been discounted to the present
value of the future cash receipt where such discounting is material.

Cash at bank and in hand
Cash at bank and in hand represents such accounts and instruments that are available on
demand or have a maturity of less than three months from the date of acquisition. Deposits
for more than three months but less than one year have been disclosed as short term deposits.
Cash placed on deposit for more than one year is disclosed as a fixed asset investment.

Creditors and provisions
Creditors and provisions are recognised when there is an obligation at the balance sheet date
as a result of a past event, it is probable that a transfer of economic benefit will be required
in settlement, and the amount of the settlement can be estimated reliably. Creditors and
provisions are recognised at the amount the charity anticipates it will pay to settle the debt.
Long term liabilities have not been discounted to the present value of the future cash payments
on the basis that such discounting is material.
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Stocks
Stocks for resale are valued at the lower of cost and net realisable value.

Fund accounting
Restricted funds comprise monies raised for, or their use restricted to, a specific purpose, or
contributions subject to donor imposed conditions.
The designated funds are monies or assets set aside out of general funds and designated for
specific purposes by the trustees.
General funds represent those monies which are freely available for application towards
achieving any charitable purpose that falls within the charity’s charitable objects.

Leased assets
Rentals applicable to operating leases, where substantially all of the benefits and risks of
ownership remain with the lessor, are charged on a straight-line basis over the lease term.
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1 Donations and legacies

Donations, gifts and appeals
Legacies
2017 Total funds
2016 Total funds

Unrestricted
funds
£

Restricted
funds
£

2017
Total
£

2016
Total
£

2,552,613
3,159,642
5,712,255
5,279,372

—
—
—
—

2,552,613
3,159,642
5,712,255
5,279,372

3,067,697
2,211,675
5,279,372

2 Other trading activities
The charity has one wholly owned subsidiary, Kidney Research Enterprises Limited (Company
number:00905963), which is incorporated in England and Wales. The subsidiary’s principal
activity is to undertake trading and retail activities for the benefit of Kidney Research UK.
Kidney Research Enterprises Limited donates its taxable profit, if any, to Kidney Research UK.
A summary of the subsidiary’s results is shown below. Audited financial statements will be
filed with the Registrar of Companies.
2017
Total
£

Profit and loss account
Turnover
Expenses
Net profit
Other interest receivable and similar income
Profit for the financial year before taxation
Taxation
Payment under Gift Aid scheme to Kidney Research UK
Profit for the financial year
Accumulated losses at 1 April 2016
Accumulated losses at 31 March 2017

875,130
(474,271)
400,859
(34)
400,825
—
(397,487)
3,338
(3,338)
—

2016
Total
£
1,046,571
(490,793)
555,778
63
555,741
—
(553,021)
2,820
(6,158)
(3,338)

The shareholder’s funds of the subsidiary at 31 March 2017 were £334,500 (2016 - £331,162)
(note 13). The trustees are satisfied that the activities of the subsidiary are essential to the
future growth of the charity both for the acquisition of new supporters and volunteers through
the lottery, events and retail products and for obtaining donations, which are reflected in the
financial statements of the charity.

3 Investment income

Income from listed investments
Interest receivable
2017 Total funds
2016 Total funds

Unrestricted
funds
£

Restricted
funds
£

2017
Total
£

2016
Total
£

352,438
28,622
381,060
375,670

—
—
—
—

352,438
28,622
381,060
375,670

354,638
21,032
375,670

ANNUAL REPORT 2016-17 | 31

Notes to the financial statements
Year to 31 March 2017

4 Income from charitable activities
Unrestricted
funds
£

Restricted
funds
£

2017
Total
£

2016
Total
£

52,299
52,299
93,256

2,352,128
2,352,128
2,194,301

2,404,427
2,404,427
2,287,557

2,287,557
2,287,557

Grants receivable
2017 Total funds
2016 Total funds

5 Analysis of total expenditure
Unrestricted
Restricted
funds 2017 funds 2017
£
£

2017 Unrestricted
Total funds 2016
£
£

Restricted
funds 2016
£

2016
Total
£

Cost of raising funds
Cost of raising donations and legacies
Fundraising trading: costs of goods
sold and other costs

1,766,336

—

1,766,336

1,731,048

—

1,731,048

474,272

—

474,272

490,793

—

490,793

18,784

Investment management costs

—

18,784

35,811

—

35,811

2,259,392

—

2,259,392

2,257,652

—

2,257,652

Research

4,122,088

4,398,009

1,229,587

1,359,604

1,550,276
79,597

5,948,285

1,064,757

2,593,406
164,830

6,715,494

Awareness and education

5,186,845

2,758,236

7,945,081

5,757,613

1,629,873

7,387,486

7,446,237

2,758,236

10,204,473

8,015,265

1,629,873

9,645,138

Charitable activities

Total expenditure

5 Analysis of total expenditure (continued)

Cost of raising funds
Cost of raising donations and legacies
Fundraising trading: costs of goods sold and
other costs
Investment management costs

Charitable activities
Research
Awareness and education

2017 Total funds
2016 Total funds
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Grants
and project
expenditure
£

Allocated
costs
(note 6)
£

2017
Total
£

2016
Total
£

—

1,766,336

1,766,336

1,731,048

—
—
—

474,272
18,785
2,259,393

474,272
18,785
2,259,393

490,793
35,811
2,257,652

5,941,315
363,391
6,304,706

657,960
982,415
1,640,375

6,599,275
1,345,806
7,945,081

5,948,059
1,439,427
7,387,486

6,304,706
5,663,150

3,899,768
3,981,988

10,204,474
9,645,138

9,645,138

1,439,201

Notes to the financial statements
Year to 31 March 2017

6 Allocated costs
The following cost categories have been allocated across the charity’s activities on the basis
of staff time spent on each activity.

CEO/Human
resources
Operations
Relationship
fundraising
Development
fundraising &
research operations
Communications
Governance
Total

Cost of raising funds
Cost of
Investment
raising Fundraising management
funds
trading
costs
£
£
£
78,579
10,940
3,682

Charitable activities

Research
£
110,645

Awareness Governance
£
£
62,075
39,685

2017
Total
£
305,606

537,610

119,330

15,103

134,346

74,566

55,661

936,616

1,030,277

343,253

—

7,291

364,218

468

1,745,507

79,694

—

—

165,609

36,883

7,141

289,327

40,176

749
—
474,272

—
—
18,785

159,653
80,416
657,960

417,867
26,806
982,415

—

1,766,336

4,267
(107,222)
—

622,712
—
3,899,768

7 Grants payable
The charity makes grants to both individuals and institutions in accordance with its grant
making policy set out in the trustees’ report. A detailed breakdown of grants awarded is
provided in note 24 to the financial statements.
A reconciliation of the grants payable and grants commitments figures shown in these financial
statements is as follows:
2017
£
Grant commitments at 1 April 2016
Commitments made in the year (note 24)
Adjustments and lapsed grant commitments
Grants payable
Grants paid during the year
Commitments at 31 March 2017

2017
£

2016
£

11,173,128
5,941,315
(78,643)

Commitments at 31 March are payable as
follows:
Within one year (note 16)
After more than one year (note 17)

2016
£
9,147,433

5,549,107
(94,224)
5,862,672
(4,398,769)
12,637,031

5,454,883
(3,429,188)
11,173,128

10,327,332
2,309,699
12,637,031

7,540,597
3,632,531
11,173,128

8 Net income (expenditure) for the year
This is stated after charging:

Staff costs (note 9)
Auditors’ remuneration
. Statutory audit services
. Other services
Depreciation
Irrecoverable VAT

Unrestricted
funds
£

Restricted
funds
£

2017
Total
£

2016
Total
£

1,865,889

—

1,865,889

1,792,433

15,000
1,500
74,488
183,145

—
—
—
—

15,000
1,500
74,488
183,145

17,750
3,050
81,549
184,525
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9 Employment costs
Employment costs during the year were as follows:
Wages and salaries
Social security costs
Other pension costs and salary sacrifice

2017
£

2016
£

1,556,725
144,614
164,550
1,865,889

1,506,690
142,514
143,229
1,792,433

The increase in employment costs arises from two additional roles created, and from securing
cover for the significant level of maternity leave during the year.
The average number of employees and average full-time equivalent during the year, analysed
by time expended on the following activities, was as follows:
Group & Charity:
Generation of funds
Charitable activities
. Research
. Awareness and education
Governance

Ave
Headcount
2017
Number

Ave
Headcount
2016
Number

Ave
FTE
2017
Number

Ave
FTE
2016
Number

37

31

29

25

11
12
1
61

6
20
1
58

9
11
1
50

5
18
1
49

The number of employees who earned £60,000 or more (including taxable benefits but
excluding employer pension contributions) during the year was as follows:
£60,000 - £70,000
£70,000 - £80,000
£100,001 - £110,000

2017
Number

2016
Number

1
2
1

1
2
1

The key management personnel of the charity in charge of directing and controlling, running
and operating the charity on a day to day basis comprise the trustees and the Senior
Management Team (see page 28). The total remuneration (including taxable benefits and
employers’ pension contributions) of the key management personnel for the year was
£485,464 (2016 - £493,980).

10 Trustees’ expenses and remuneration
None of the trustees received remuneration in respect of their services as trustees during
either year.
During the year ended 31 March 2017, out of pocket travelling expenses amounting to £3,350
(2016 - £6,600) were reimbursed to 7 (2016 – 9) trustees. During the year the Chief Executive
was reimbursed expenses totalling £2,613 (2016 - £1,219).
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10 Trustees’ expenses and remuneration (continued)
In accordance with normal commercial practice, the charity has purchased insurance to protect
trustees from claims arising from negligent acts, errors or omissions occurring whilst on
charity business. The insurance policy provides cover up to £1 million (2016 - £1 million) and
the cost for the year ended 31 March 2017 was £1,528 (2016 - £1,436).

11 Taxation
Kidney Research UK is a registered charity and therefore is not liable to income tax or
corporation tax on income derived from its charitable activities, as it falls within the various
exemptions available to registered charities.
The subsidiary, Kidney Research Enterprises Limited, donates its taxable profits, if any, to
Kidney Research UK each year (note 2).

12 Tangible fixed assets
Leasehold
land and
buildings
£

Computer
software &
equipment
£

Fixtures,
fittings &
equipment
£

Total
£

Cost
At 1 April 2016
Additions
At 31 March 2017

268,451
16,598
285,049

377,912
28,826
406,738

47,853
16,486
64,339

694,216
61,910
756,126

Depreciation
At 1 April 2016
Charge for year
At 31 March 2017

214,857
30,406
245,263

312,889
42,175
355,064

44,094
1,907
46,001

571,840
74,488
646,328

Net book values
At 31 March 2017
At 31 March 2016

39,786
53,596

51,675
65,020

18,338
3,759

109,799
122,375

Leasehold
land and
buildings
£

Computer
software &
equipment
£

Fixtures,
fittings &
equipment
£

Total
£

Cost
At 1 April 2016
Additions
At 31 March 2017

211,963
—
211,963

305,643
28,826
334,469

7,433
—
7,433

525,039
28,826
553,865

Depreciation
At 1 April 2016
Charge for year
At 31 March 2017

163,997
27,409
191,406

240,618
42,175
282,793

4,756
899
5,655

409,371
70,483
479,854

Net book values
At 31 March 2017
At 31 March 2016

20,557
47,967

51,676
65,024

1,778
2,677

74,011
115,668

Group

Charity
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13 Investments
2017
£

Group
Listed investments
Market value of listed investments at 1 April 2016
Additions at cost
Disposals at book value (proceeds: £1,467,296; realised gains: £31,914)
Net unrealised investment (losses) gains
Market value of listed investments at 31 March 2017

2016
£

11,925,111
1,669,601
(1,435,382)
1,493,564
13,652,894

12,686,444
2,617,332
(3,046,850)
(331,815)
11,925,111

Cash held by investment managers for re-investment
Cash held on deposit

1,329,389
798,063
15,780,346

1,192,413
790,219
13,907,743

Cost of listed investments at 31 March 2017

10,639,470

10,376,440

2017
£

2016
£

10,616,680
5,163,666
15,780,346

10,137,445
3,770,298
13,907,743

Allocated as follows:
Fixed asset investments
Current asset investments

Shares in
subsidiary
undertaking
£

Listed
investments
£

Total
2017
£

Total
2016
£

Market value at 1 April 2016
Additions at cost
Disposals at book value (proceeds: £1,467,296;
realised gains: £31,914)
Net unrealised investment (losses) gains
Market value at 31 March 2017
Cash held by investment managers for reinvestment
Cash held on deposit

150,000
—

11,925,111
1,669,601

12,075,111
1,669,601

12,836,444
2,617,332

—
—
150,000

(1,435,382)
1,493,564
13,652,894

(1,435,382)
1,493,564
13,802,894

(3,046,850)
(331,815)
12,075,111

—
—
150,000

1,329,389
798,063
15,780,346

1,329,389
798,063
15,930,346

1,192,413
790,219
14,057,743

Cost of investments at 31 March 2017

334,500

10,639,470

10,973,970

10,710,940

2017
£

2016
£

10,766,680
5,163,666
15,930,346

10,287,445
3,770,298
14,057,743

Charity

Allocated as follows:
Fixed asset investments
Current asset investments

Shares in subsidiary undertaking
At 31 March 2017 Kidney Research UK owned the entire called up ordinary share capital of
334,500 ordinary £1 shares in Kidney Research Enterprises Limited (note 2).
At
31 March 2017, the aggregate of the share capital and reserves of Kidney Research Enterprises
Limited amounted to £334,500 (2016 - £331,162).
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14 Stocks
Group
Merchandise for resale

2017
£

2016
£

45,821

44,394

2017
£

2016
£

74,704
1,444,689
119,928
1,706,358
74,519
3,420,198

68,866
2,069,260
426,628
1,653,959
72,615
4,291,328

54,336
1,444,689
96,348
1,706,358
—
—
3,301,731

62,721
2,069,260
387,114
1,653,959
238
32,992
4,206,284

At 31 March 2017, the Charity did not hold any stock (2016 - £nil).

15 Debtors
Group
Taxation recoverable
Legacies receivable
Trade debtors
Other debtors
Prepayments and accrued income

Charity
Taxation recoverable
Legacies receivable
Trade debtors
Other debtors
Prepayments and accrued income
Amount owed by subsidiary undertaking (note 2)

Included within other debtors is a total of £537,705 (2016 - £514,476) which relates to grant
debtors receivable after one year.

16 Creditors: amounts falling due within one year
Group
Expense creditors
Social security and other taxation
Grants payable (note 7)
Other creditors
Accruals and deferred income

2017
£

2016
£

89,014
60,702
10,327,332
129,129
588,648
11,194,825

95,011
39,967
7,540,597
183,839
86,433
7,945,847

128,228
4,530
60,702
10,327,332
129,129
569,490
11,219,411

—
758
39,967
7,540,597
183,839
47,794
7,812,955

Charity
Amount owed to subsidiary undertaking (note 2)
Expense creditors
Social security and other taxation
Grants payable (note 7)
Other creditors
Accruals and deferred income

Included within the above is deferred income as set out below:
2017
£
Deferred income brought forward at 1 April 2016
Additional income deferred during the year
Brought forward funds released in the year
Deferred income carried forward at 31 March 2017

2,575
473,542
(2,575)
473,542
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17 Creditors: amounts falling due after more than one year
Group and Charity
Grants payable (note 7)

2017
£

2016
£

2,309,699

3,632,531

18 Restricted funds
The income funds of the charity include restricted funds comprising the following donations
and grants to be applied for specific purposes:

Interrogating basement membrane to
understand Alport Syndrome
. Action for Alports Campaign
Restricted funds in deficit

Expenditure
/transfers
& grants
committed
£

At
1 April
2016
£

Income
£

(49,953)
(49,953)

27,923
27,923

—
—

At
31 March
2017
£

(22,030)
(22,030)

Proactive IV Iron Therapy in Dialysis Patients
Trial (PIVOTAL)
. Vifor Inc

—

741,768

741,768

—

eGFR graphs for early identification of chronic
kidney disease (ASSIST-CKD)
. Health Foundation

—

170,008

170,008

—

FSGS Studies:
-Mechanisms of podocyte damage
-*TRPC6 inhibitors for treatment of FSGS
mutations
. Mrs Watters

38,009

—

38,009

—

—

38,009

—

38,009

7,796

—

7,796

—

17,411

16,500

33,911

—

Making Every Kidney Count
. Mrs Watters – transfer of funds

Fellows’ Day 2015/Alumni Programme 2015

Fellows’ Day 2016/Alumni Programme
7,000
. Alexion
5,000
. Novartis Pharmaceuticals UK
2,000
. Astrazenica
2,000
. Ipsen
500
. Pharmacosmos
16,500
Total

38 | ANNUAL REPORT 2016-17

Notes to the financial statements
Year to 31 March 2017

18 Restricted funds (continued)
At
1 April
2016
£

Expenditure
/transfers
Income
& grants
£ committed
£

At
31 March
2017
£

20,500

16,192

Fellows’ Day 2017 / Alumni Programme 2017
. Astellas
. Otsuka Pharmaceutical
. Bristol-Myers-Squibb
. Amgen

7,000
5,000
5,000
3,500
20,500
—

4,308

The Peer Educator Project in the Pakistani
Muslim Community in Birmingham
. Department of Health

—

Encouraging Organ Donation in Glasgow
. Scottish Government

—

16,077

16,077

—

Organ Donation and Stem Cell Awareness
Project
. Department of Health

—

2,204

2,204

—

Empowering patients to participate in their
dialysis treatment
. Sheffield Teaching Project

—

12,137

12,137

—

Encouraging organ donation in the Bangladeshi
Community
. Department of Health

—

20,000

20,000

—

Helping patients make the right decisions
about their treatment
. NHS Blood & Transplant

—

29,913

29,913

—

Patient Survey on Secondary
Hyperparathyroidism treatments
. Amgen

—

5,200

5,200

—

UKRRS
. Renal Association
. British Renal Society
. British Transplantation Society
. British Kidney Patients Association
. British Association of Paediatric Nephrology

—
—
—
—
—

1,219
1,219
1,219
1,219
308

1,219
1,219
1,219
1,219
308

—
—
—
—
—

16,925

938

—

17,863

38,020

50,083

599

87,504

—

16,784

16,784

—

David Kerr Fellowship
. David Kerr Fellowship Campaign
Answers for aHus
. Answers for aHus Campaign
Baxter Peer Educator
. Baxter Healthcare

(5,500)

(5,500)

—
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18 Restricted funds (continued)
At
1 April
2016
£
World Kidney Day 2016
. Otsuka Pharmaceutical
. Fresenius
. Amgen
. Pharmacosmos
. British Kidney Patient Association
. National Kidney Federation
. PKD Charity

Expenditure
/transfers
Income
& grants
£ Committed
£

At
31 March
2017
£

3,000
3,000
2,000
500
750
750
250
—

10,250

9,857

393

—

379,208

379,208

—

500,000

—

500,000

—

—

475,000

511,143

Various Trust Donations
. Crerar Hotels
. Masonic Charitable Foundation
. Grant towards on-going medical research

—
—
5,000

11,500
144,690
77,850

11,500
144,690
77,850*

—
—
5,000

Nottingham Kidney Trust
. Nottingham Kidney Trust

5,802

9,275

11,613

3,464

Medimmune
. Medimmune

—

105,000

105,000

—

The Renal Association

—

9,375

9,375

—

Pharmaceutical Re-imbursement of expenses
. Vifor – Director Of Research Operations Expenses
. Novatis Pharmaceuticals – Consultancy costs

—
—

403
375

403
375

—
—

Various

—

330

330

—

Restricted funds in surplus

628,963

2,363,061

2,859,742

132,282

Total restricted funds

579,010

2,390,984

2,859,742

110,252

Second of Three £500,000 Research &
Innovation Grants
.John Feehally / Stoneygate
Garfield Weston
. Garfield Weston
NuRTURE – Undisclosed Pharmaceutical
funding via National Unified Renal
Translational
Research Enterprise - Collaboration

(36,143)

* Includes transfers between funds of £62,650 which relates to grants made in the previous
year from unrestricted funds for which restricted funds have subsequently been received.
The above figures represent only the restricted element of grant funding utilised in the year.
Additional amounts may have been reflected as unrestricted income or as deferred income or
may be utilised in previous/future years.
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18 Restricted funds (continued)
The project entitled ‘Interrogating basement membrane to understand Alport Syndrome’ is
showing as a negative balance because the charity has underwritten this part of the cost while
Action for Alports Campaign completes its fundraising for this project.

19 Designated funds
At
1 April
2016
£
Research and Awareness Fund
Property Fund

4,849,230
353,195
5,202,425

New
designations
£

Released/
utilised in
year
£

At
31 March
2017
£

5,399,659
200,000
5,599,659

4,849,230
273,195
5,122,425

5,399,659
280,000
5,679,659

The Research and Awareness Fund represents monies which have been set aside from
unrestricted funds by the trustees for research project commitments (£5,024,659) and raising
awareness of kidney health (£375,000).
The Property Fund represents monies set aside by the trustees to meet end of lease expenses
and expenditure on properties.

20 Analysis of net assets between funds
Group
Fund balances at 31 March 2017
are represented by:
Tangible fixed assets
Fixed asset investments
Current assets
Creditors: amounts falling
due within one year
Creditors: amounts falling after one year
Total net assets

Unrestricted
funds
£

Restricted
funds
£

Total
2017
£

109,799
10,616,680
7,813,623

—
—

4,890,908

109,799
10,616,680
12,704,531

(6,941,965)
(1,781,903)
9,816,234

(4,252,860)
(527,796)
110,252

(11,194,825)
(2,309,699)
9,926,486

The total unrealised gains as at 31 March 2017 constitute movements on revaluation and are
as follows:
2017
£
Unrealised gains included above:
On tangible fixed assets
On investments
Total unrealised gains at 31 March 2017

2016
£

—

—

2,999,636
2,999,636

1,548,671
1,548,671

Add: net (losses) gains arising on revaluation arising in the year

1,548,671
(42,599)
1,506,072
1,493,564

2,337,416
(456,930)
1,880,486
(331,815)

Total unrealised gains at 31 March 2017

2,999,636

1,548,671

Reconciliation of movements in unrealised gains
Unrealised gains at 1 April 2016
Less: in respect to disposals in the year
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20 Analysis of net assets between funds (continued)

Charity
Fund balances at 31 March 2017
are represented by:
Tangible fixed assets
Fixed asset investments
Current assets
Creditors: amounts falling
due within one year
Creditors: amounts falling after one year
Total net assets

Unrestricted
funds
£

Restricted
funds
£

Total
2017
£

74,011
10,766,680
7,749,495

—
—

4,890,908

74,011
10,766,680
12,640,403

(6,966,551)
(1,781,903)
9,046,758

(4,252,860)
(527,796)
110,252

(11,219,411)
(2,309,699)
9,157,010

The total unrealised gains as at 31 March 2017 constitute movements on revaluation and are
as follows:
2017
£

Unrealised gains included above:
On tangible fixed assets
On investments
Total unrealised gains at 31 March 2017

2016
£

—

—

2,815,136
2,815,136

1,364,171
1,364,171

Add: net (losses) gains arising on revaluation arising in the year

1,364,171
(42,599)
1,321,572
1,493,564

2,152,916
(456,930)
1,695,986
(331,815)

Total unrealised gains at 31 March 2017

2,815,136

1,364,171

Reconciliation of movements in unrealised gains
Unrealised gains at 1 April 2016
Less: in respect to disposals in the year

21 Operating leases
At 31 March 2017 the charity had total future minimum commitments under non-cancellable
operating leases as follows:
Group
Operating lease payments which fall due:
Within one year
Between two and five years
Thereafter

Charity
Operating lease payments which fall due:
Within one year
Between two and five years
Thereafter
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Land and buildings
2017
2016
£
£
201,009
166,000
26,000
393,009

222,684
226,263
120,000
568,947

Land and buildings
2017
2016
£
£
101,009
—
—
101,009

136,234
106,263
—
242,497

Notes to the financial statements
Year to 31 March 2017

22 Liability of members
The Charity is constituted as a company limited by guarantee. In the event of the charity being
wound up members are required to contribute an amount not exceeding £1.

23 Pensions
The charitable company operates a defined contribution pension scheme. During the year
contributions totalling £164,440 (2016 - £143,229) were made, with £18,150 (2016 £13,430) payable at the year end.
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24 Grants awarded
Researcher

Institution

Project title

1

Professor Iain C
Macdougall

King's College Hospital

PIVOTAL Nurse Contract Year 2 and Year 3 (+ 2
yrs Follow-up Phase)

318,528 1 year

£

Term

2

PIVOTAL sites

UK Sites (43) *

Nurse support for UK sites participating in the
PIVOTAL trial

413,916 1 year
413,916

3

ASSIST sites

UK Sites (20) *

ASSIST-CKD (a programme to spread eGFR
graph surveillance for early identification,
support and treatment of people with
progressive CKD)

4

Ms Ruth
Nightingale

Great Ormond Street
Hospital

Preliminary co-design, development and
evaluation of a self-management action plan (SMAP): Supporting parent-to-child transfer of
responsibility for chronic kidney disease.

217,911 3 years

5

Miss Fiona
Willingham

Derby Teaching
Hospitals NHS
Foundation Trust

Pre-Emptive Rehabilitation to Prevent DialysisAssociated Morbidity (PREHAB): A study to
assess the impact of exercise, nutritional
intervention and multidisciplinary education
upon outcomes in patients approaching and
commencing dialysis

198,097 3 years

6

Prof Richard
Coward

University of Bristol

ESPN SEPT 2017

8,000 0

7

Miss Alice White University of Leicester *

Responses to Exercise in Kidney Disease

5,000 1 year

8

Mr Ram Aswani

Royal Free Hospital and
UCL Medical School

The use of urinary exosomes to investigate how
calcineurin inhibitors affect renal tubular
transport proteins

5,000 1 year

9

Miss Kirsten
Nimmo

University of Bristol

Understanding the interactions of podocin in
health and disease.

5,000 1 year

10

Miss Rachel
Buxton

University of Bristol

A new vascular therapeutic potential for early
intervention in diabetic vascular dysfunction

5,000 1 year

11

Mr Lawrence
Gillam

University of Bristol

Validating important targets in podocyte insulin
signalling.

5,000 1 year

Carried forward
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24 Grants awarded (continued)
Researcher

Institution

Project title

Brought forward

£

Term

1,233,952

12

Miss Clare
Tomlinson

University of Leicester *

13

Miss Anna
Kennedy

University of Edinburgh * Urinary microvesicles as markers of acute
kidney transplant rejection

5,000 1 year

14

Mr Christman
Ihuoma

University of Edinburgh * Dimethyl fumarate – a potential modulator of
acute kidney injury and repair

5,000 1 year

15

Miss Lauren
Dixon

University of Liverpool

Hormonal Regulation of Virulence in
uncomplicated Urinary Tract Infections caused
by E. coli

5,000 1 year

16

Mr Jacobo
Salvatore

Newcastle University *

Genomic disorders affecting the RCA gene
cluster in aHUS.

5,000 1 year

17

Mr William Ries

University of Birmingham Unlocking the metabolism of the kidney prior
to transplantation

5,000 1 year

18

Mr Steven
Tominey

University of Edinburgh * Community prescribing of potentially
nephrotoxic drugs and risk of acute kidney
injury requiring renal replacement therapy in
critically ill adults: a national cohort study

5,000 1 year

19

Mr Marc
Huttman

University of Bristol

Elucidating the molecular biology of Cystinuria
kidney stones

5,000 1 year

20

Prof Dr John
Colyer

University of Leeds

Detecting particular molecular forms of NGAL
to improve AKI diagnostic tests

21

Dr Sabine van
der Veer

University of Manchester Improving the reporting of uraemic pruritus in
*
dialysis patients

39,516 2 years

22

Dr Ben Caplin

University College
London

Genome-wide analysis of arterial gene
methylation in patients with CKD - A pilot study

39,698 1 year

23

Dr Ahmed
Abouelmour

Royal Free Hospital and
UCL Medical School

Clinical and research training

23,127 1 year

Carried forward

Myocardial fibrosis in patients with end-stage
renal disease: quantification and correlations

5,000 1 year

39,964 1 year

1,416,257

ANNUAL REPORT 2016-17 | 45

Notes to the financial statements
Year to 31 March 2017

24 Grants awarded (continued)
Researcher

Institution

Project title

£

Brought forward

Term

1,416,257

24

Dr Nicole
Solomon

Birmingham Children's
Hospital

Clinical and research training

10,650 1 year

25

Dr S
Yoowannakul

Birmingham Children's
Hospital

Clinical and research training

19,700 1 year

26

Dr Sian Griffin

Cardiff University

Improving Transplant Opportunities for Patients
who are Sensitised (ITOPS) Pilot - Randomised
Clinical Trial

27

Dr Hannah
Wilkinson

King's College London

Localised inhibition of thrombin at endothelial
surfaces - a translational strategy to inhibit
immune responses to localised antigen

67,721 3 years

28

Professor Paul
Brenchley

Manchester Royal
Infirmary

* Interaction of genetics and environment in
triggering
autoimmune
membranous
nephropathy (AMN): a paradigm for initiation of
autoimmunity

49,617 1 year

29

Dr Aoife Waters

UCL Institute of Child
Health

Defining a role for PDE8A in Steroid Resistant
Nephrotic Syndrome

49,658 1 year

30

Professor
University Hospitals of
Jonathan Barratt Leicester NHS Trust *

Responding to the needs of patients with IgA
nephropathy: A social media approach

38,323 2 years

31

Professor Susan
Kimber

University of Manchester Using stem cell technologies to understand
*
human renal tract malformations

251,813 3 years

32

Professor
Richard Coward

Bristol Royal Hospital for Developing new molecular
Children
cystinuria kidney disease.

33

Dr Simon
Ramsbottom

Newcastle University *

34

Dr Neil Roberts

University of Manchester Biological
*
disease

35

Dr Chia-Te Liao

Cardiff University

Carried forward
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therapies

for

500,000 1 year

65,638 1 year

treatment

186,049 3 years

bladder

195,923 3 years

Exploring microRNA-mediated regulation of
renal macrophage function during kidney injury
and fibrosis

245,506 3 years

Identification and evaluation of
mechanisms in nephronophthisis

mechanisms

of

genetic

3,096,855
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24 Grants awarded (continued)
Researcher
Institution
Brought forward

Project title

£ Term
3,096,855

36

Dr Morag K
Mansley

University of Edinburgh * Transcriptomic profiling of steroid-induced
sodium absorption in the aldosterone-sensitive
distal nephron.

37

Professor Detlef
Bockenhauer

UK Renal Registry

38

Professor Jamie
Davies

University of Edinburgh * Advancing construction of human induced
pluripotent stem cell (iPSC)-derived kidneys from
current crude organoids to making anatomically
realistic mini-organs.

197,939 3 years

39

Dr Kevin
Woollard

Imperial College London

Role
of
inflammatory
macrophages
in
accelerated atherosclerosis during chronic
kidney disease

200,000 3 years

40

Dr Samira
Lakhal-Littleton

University of Oxford

Renal iron regulation and its relevance to renal
function, systemic iron homeostasis and
erythropoietin production

199,747 3 years

41

Professor Simon Cardiff University
Arnett Jones

Establishing the relationship between antimicrobial host defence and the initiation of
tissue fibrosis in peritoneal dialysis

198,821 3 years

42

Dr David
Ferenbach

University of Edinburgh * Cell senescence in acute kidney injury and
progressive kidney fibrosis: a novel therapeutic
target.

190,069 2 years

Carried forward

Support towards the Continued Maintenance of
the National Registry of Rare Kidney Diseases
(RaDaR)

197,423 3 years

5,000 1 year

4,285,854

ANNUAL REPORT 2016-17 | 47

Notes to the financial statements
Year to 31 March 2017

24 Grants awarded (continued)
Researcher

Institution

Project title

Brought forward

£

Term

4,285,854

43

Dr Laura Denby

University of Edinburgh * Harnessing a miRNA signature as a biomarker to
define biopsy proven IgA nephropathy and
disease severity.

199,109 2 years

44

Professor Fiona
Karet

University of Cambridge * Development of a hand-held potassium sensor:
a pilot feasibility study

61,256 1 year

45

Professor Paul
Roderick

University of
Southampton

Is chronic kidney disease prevalence changing in
adults over time in England: findings from the
Health Surveys for England 2003-2016.

46

Dr John
Chambers

Imperial College London

One-Year Post-Doctoral Fellowship Dedicated
Funding

47

Dr Matt Hall

Royal Society of Medicine Pregnancy and Renal Disease Study Day, Royal
Society of Medicine, 28 June 2016

2,000 0

48

Dr Martin Wilkie

Sheffield Kidney Institute Peritoneal/Haemodialysis Study Group Meeting,
The Circle, Sheffield, 6 May 2016

1,500 0

49

Professor
Charles Pusey

Imperial College London

Short Course on Glomerular Disease, 29-30
November 2017

2,000 0

50

Dr Arvind Nagra University Hospital
Southampton NHS
Foundation Trust

Working Together to Manage Paediatric Onset
Kidney Conditions Surviving into Adulthood
Study Day, Southampton General Hospital, 25
Jan 2017

2,000 0

51

Dr Chris Laing

Royal Society of Medicine AKI Frontiers 2017, Royal Society of Medicine,
31 March 2017

52

Dr Andrew
Lewington

University of Leeds

Carried forward
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Focus on Kidney Research, University of Leeds,
11 April 2017

5,000 3 years

47,000 1 year

2,000 0

700

4,608,419

0
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24 Grants awarded (continued)
Researcher

Institution

Project title

£

Brought forward

4,608,419

53

Dr Claire Sharpe King's College London

54

Dr Gavin Iain
Welsh

55

Dr Andrew
Macdonald

56

Dr Mark Dockrell

Term

Dissecting K-Ras-dependent cell signalling
pathways in the pathogenesis of Renal fibrosis

60,587 3 years

University of Bristol

Essential role for Myosin VI in the trafficking of
Podocin in health and disease

64,107 3 years

University of Leeds

Targeting a BK virus encoded ion channel to
treat polyomavirus associated nephropathy
(PVAN) – a major cause of kidney transplant
rejection

63,653 3 years

St Helier Hospital

Targeting Glucose Transporters to Prevent
Fibrogenic Signalling in Human Proximal Tubule
Cells

65,350

3 years

57

Professor Robert
University College
Kleta
London

58

Dr Emily Bowen

University of Bristol

59

Dr Sayyid M
Ammar Raza

University of Manchester Investigating the role of SOX9 and extracellular
*
matrix deposition in kidney fibrosis

126,348 2 years

60

Dr Jennifer
Williams

University of Exeter

Microcirculatory function and glucose
homeostasis in peritoneal dialysis

230,723 3 years

61

Dr Martin
Cassidy

East Midlands Network

ASSIST-CKD (a programme to spread eGFR
graph surveillance for early identification,
support and treatment of people with
progressive CKD)

62

Multiple
contracts

Mixed n=6 (UKRR,
NURTuRE (National Unified Renal
M/keynes Biobank, Bham Transplational Research Enterprise)
Tissue bank,Geneva,
UoN, UoB)

63

Dr Sarah Herrick University of Manchester PIVOTAL : Proactive IV irOn Therapy in
*
haemodiALysis patients (PIVOTAL) Trial

68,590 3 years

Understanding the genetic basis of steroidsensitive nephrotic syndrome

220,890 3 years

The role of the podocyte in Shiga toxin
associated haemolytic uraemic syndrome

-

15,489 1 year

445,137 1 year

3,000 0

5,941,315

* Denotes grant made to a trustee or an institution with which they are related.
Abbreviations and Acronyms:
ISN: International Society of Nephrology
RA: Renal Association
MRC: Medical Research Council
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25 Related Party Transactions
During the year donations of £2,785 (2015/2016 £4,185) were received from trustees.
Grants awarded to a trustee or an institution with which they are related are highlighted in
note 24 by way of * against grants awarded.
Transactions between Kidney Research UK and its wholly owned trading subsidiary, Kidney
Research Enterprises Limited are determined by an agreed methodology of inter-company
recharges based on the resources available across both entities.
There were no other related party transactions in the year which require disclosure (2015/2016
- none).

26 Prior year Statement of Financial Activities (31 March 2016)
Unrestricted
funds
£

Restricted
funds
£

2016
Total
funds
£

5,279,372

—

5,279,372

1,046,571

—

1,046,571

375,670

—

375,670

93,256
6,794,869

2,194,301
2,194,301

2,287,557
8,989,170

. Costs of raising donations and legacies

1,731,048

—

1,731,048

. Fundraising trading: cost of goods sold
and other costs

490,793

—

35,811

—

490,793
35,811

2,257,652

—

2,257,652

. Research

4,398,009

1,550,276

5,948,285

. Awareness and education

1,359,604

79,597

1,439,201

5,757,613

1,629,873

7,387,486

8,015,265

1,629,873

9,645,138

Income from:
Donations and legacies
Other trading activities
Investment income
Income from charitable activities
Total income
Expenditure on:
Cost of raising funds

. Investment management costs
Expenditure on charitable activities

Total expenditure
Net (expenditure) income before (losses) gains on
investments
Net (losses) gains on investments

(1,220,396)
(538,184)

—

(538,184)

Net (expenditure) income and net movement in
funds for the year

(1,758,580)

564,428

(1,194,152)

50 | ANNUAL REPORT 2016-17

564,428

(655,968)

Notes to the financial statements
Year to 31 March 2017

27 Prior year Statement of Restricted funds
The income funds of the charity include restricted funds comprising the following
donations and grants to be applied for specific purposes:
Incoming
resources
£

Expenditure
/transfers
& grants
committed
£

(76,315)

27,150

788

(49,953)

(76,315)

27,150

788

(49,953)

At
1 April
2015
£
Interrogating
basement
understand Alport Syndrome
. Action for Alports Campaign

membrane

At
31March
2016
£

to

Restricted funds in deficit
Proactive IV Iron Therapy in Dialysis Patients
Trial (PIVOTAL)
. Vifor Inc

—

722,642

722,642

—

eGFR graphs for early identification of chronic
kidney disease (ASSIST-CKD)
. Health Foundation

—

212,870

212,870

—

38,009

—

—

38,009

6,500

—

6,500

—

—

18,778

1,367

17,411

27,959

2,500

22,663

7,796

—

9,758

9,758

—

72,468

966,548

975,800

63,216

FSGS Studies:
-Mechanisms of podocyte damage
-*TRPC6 inhibitors for treatment
mutations

of

FSGS

. Mrs Watters
The effects of dialysis methods on children
. Fresenius GmBH
Alumni Programme 2015
. Chiesi

—

Fellows’ Day 2016/Alumni Programme 2016
5,000
. Fresenius
. Astellas

7,000

. Otsuka Pharmaceutical

5,000

. Astrazenica
. Others

931
847
18,778

Total
Fellows’ Day 2015/Alumni Programme 2015-16
Income include:
. Irwin Mitchell Solicitors

2,500
2,500

The Renal Association
. Dr Qasem
Total
Restricted funds in surplus - carried forward
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27 Prior year Statement of Restricted funds (continued)
Incoming
resources
£

Expenditure
/transfers
& grants
committed
£

At
31March
2016
£

72,468

966,548

975,800

63,216

—

10,000

10,000

—

—

18,266

18,266

—

—

8,366

8,366

—

14,031

2,894

—

16,925

4,398

34,312

690

38,020

—

65,000

65,000

—

—

8,065

8,065

—

—

500,000

500,000

—

—

500,000

—

500,000

—

45,000

40,000

5,000

. Nottingham Kidney Trust

—

8,275

2,473

5,802

Other
. Various funders

—

425

425

—

Restricted funds in surplus

90,897

2,167,151

1,629,085

628,963

Total restricted funds

14,582

2,194,301

1,629,873

579,010

Restricted funds in surplus - brought forward

At
1 April
2015
£

The Peer Educator Project in the Pakistani
Muslim Community in Birmingham
. Department of Health
Organ Donation Awareness Project
. Scottish Government
Organ Donation and Stem Cell Awareness
Project
. Department of Health
David Kerr Fellowship
. David Kerr Fellowship Campaign
Answers for aHus
. Answers for aHus Campaign
The UK Registry for Rare Kidney disease
(RaDaR), ADPKD Nested Cohort Study
. Otsuka Pharmaceuticals UK Ltd
Baxter Peer Educator
. Baxter Healthcare
First of Three £500,000 Research & Innovation
Grants
.John Feehally / Stoneygate
Garfield Weston
. Garfield Weston
Various Trust Donations
. Grant towards on-going medical research
Nottingham Kidney Trust
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27 Prior year Statement of Restricted funds (continued)
The above figures represent only the restricted element of grant funding utilised in the
year. Additional amounts may have been reflected as unrestricted income or as deferred
income or may be utilised in previous/future years.
The project entitled ‘Interrogating basement membrane to understand Alport Syndrome’
is showing as a negative balance because the charity has underwritten this part of the cost
while Action for Alports Campaign completes its fundraising for this project.

28 Prior year Statement of Designated funds
At
1 April
2015
£
Research and Awareness Fund
Property Fund

New
designations
£

Released/
utilised in
year
£

At
31 March
2016
£

5,013,659
350,720

4,642,800
5,000

4,807,229
2,525

4,849,230
353,195

5,364,379

4,647,800

4,809,754

5,202,425

The Research and Awareness Fund represents monies which have been set aside from
unrestricted funds by the trustees for research project commitments (£4,806,230), raising
awareness of kidney health (£375,000) and engagement with new supporters (£43,000)
in 2016/17.
The Research and Awareness Fund includes funds set aside to meet April 2017 awards
under the Make Every Kidney Count Appeal, for research connected with kidney
transplantation.
The Property Fund represents monies set aside by the trustees to meet end of lease
expenses, most of which will arise in the next two financial years.
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29 Prior year Statement of Analysis of net assets between funds
Group
Fund balances at 31 March 2016
are represented by:
Tangible fixed assets
Fixed asset investments
Current assets
Creditors: amounts falling
due within one year
Creditors: amounts falling after one year
Total net assets

Charity
Fund balances at 31 March 2016
are represented by:
Tangible fixed assets
Fixed asset investments
Current assets
Creditors: amounts falling
due within one year
Creditors: amounts falling after one year
Total net assets

Unrestricted
funds
£

Restricted
funds
£

Total
2016
£

122,375
10,137,445
7,346,055

—

3,205,111

122,375
10,137,445
10,551,166

(5,890,974)
(3,061,303)

(2,054,873)
(571,228)

(7,945,847)
(3,632,531)

8,653,598

—

579,010

9,232,608

Unrestricted
funds
£

Restricted
funds
£

Total
2016
£

115,668
10,287,445
6,892,185

—

3,205,111

115,668
10,287,445
10,097,296

(5,758,082)
(3,061,303)

(2,054,873)
(571,228)

(7,812,955)
(3,632,531)

8,475,913

—

579,010

9,054,923

30 Post Balance Sheet event
On the 1st of September 2017, Kids Kidney Research merged with Kidney Research UK.
The founders of Kids Kidney Research first began fundraising in 1967 and the charity awarded
around £400,000 in grants every year. Kidney Research UK will increase its investment in
paediatric kidney research, working with the trustees and supporters of Kids Kidney Research,
so that together we can combine our knowledge and resources to make the strongest possible
impact on improving the lives of children with kidney disease.
The last audited accounts for Kids Kidney Research, as at 31 st December 2016, reflected net
assets of £1,282,503.
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